

Gmail

28 Mail

Chat

Spaces

Meet

Compose

Inbox 28

Starred

Snoozed

Sent

Drafts

Categories

Social

Updates 29

Forums 19

Promotions 4

More

Labels +

FK 55

PSLG 1

JabFung 4

Penelitian dan Pk... 9

Pribadi

Siska

UKDW 19

YAKKUM 4

More

dcid

Active

UNIVERSITAS KHOTIM DUTA WACANA

20 of 21

[DCID] Submission Acknowledgement - "Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Quality of Life: Comparing Among People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia" Penelitian dan PkM Pribadi x

Disability, CBR and Inclusive Development <no-reply@ubiquitypartnernetnetwork.com> Nov 10, 2020, 3:47 PM

to me

Dear Ms Maria Meiwati Widagdo,

Thank you for submitting the manuscript, "Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Quality of Life: Comparing Among People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia" to Disability, CBR & Inclusive Development. With our online journal management system, you will be able to track its progress through the editorial process by logging in to the journal [web site](#).

Your submission will now be considered by our Editors. Research papers deemed appropriate for the journal will proceed directly to peer review, which generally take around 8 weeks to be completed. Non-research papers will undergo a full Editorial review process, which will take 2-3 weeks. Following the completion of the review, you will be contacted by journal staff with review feedback.

Thank you for considering this journal as a venue for your work. Please get in touch should you have any questions regarding your paper.

Kind regards,

-- Disability, CBR & Inclusive Development editorial team.

Reply Forward

Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Quality of Life: Comparing Among People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia

The Maria Meiwati Widagdo^{1*}, Yunita Rappun¹, Aprilia Vetricia Gandrung¹, Edy Wibowo²

1. Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia
2. Department of Ophthalmology, Bethesda Hospital, Indonesia

*Corresponding author:

The Maria Meiwati Widagdo

Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana

E-mail address: maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Visual impairment is known to affect quality of life, but there has been no previous studies of this association in Indonesia.

Aim: This study assessed the extent to which visual impairment impacts on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia, comparing four groups of people: those with 1) normal vision, 2) corrected visual impairment, 3) uncorrected visual impairment and 4) the blind.

Methods: There were 162 respondents aged 21 to 86 years old. Those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers in Yogyakarta Indonesia. Those with corrected and uncorrected visual impairment were recruited from an eye clinic. Purposive sampling was used. This cross sectional study used NEI VFQ-25 to assess quality of life. The total and 11 NEI VFQ-25 subscales scores of four respondent groups were analysed using ANOVA, followed by post hoc analyses to reveal between group differences.

Results: There was a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total score among the four respondent groups. Respondents with normal vision had the highest score and those with blindness had the lowest. There were also significant differences among the four groups for the 11 subscales. Post hoc analyses revealed no significant difference between respondents with normal vision and corrected visual

impairment in the total and nine NEI VFQ-25 subscales. Respondents with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness had significantly lower quality of life compared to those with normal vision or corrected visual impairment in the total and five NEI VFQ-25 subscales, indicating visual impairment decreases quality of life.

Conclusion: Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's quality of life. Correction of visual impairment can ~~can~~ minimise the negative impact of visual impairment on vision-related quality of life. Failure to correct visual impairment leads to significantly lower quality of life.

Key words: Quality of life, visual acuity, blindness, visual correction, Indonesia

INTRODUCTION

The Global Burden of Diseases project conducted in 2017 reported that blindness and visual impairment caused 1.19% of DALYs globally (IHME, 2017). WHO released the World Report on Vision in 2019 and estimated that the number of people with visual impairments worldwide was 2.2 billion (WHO, 2019). The Ministry of Health of [the](#) Republic of Indonesia reported that the population with severe visual impairment was more than 2 million people and the number of people with blindness was greater than 900,000 people (Ministry of Health, 2013).

People with visual impairments experience limitations in carrying out various activities in their lives. They need more time to complete tasks like eating and drinking because they have difficulty in identifying food on a plate [or](#); pouring liquid into a glass because of their visual impairment (Pardhan *et al.*, 2015). Independence in conducting activities of daily living decreases as the visual impairment worsens (Christ *et al.*, 2014). Reduced visual acuity, decreased visual field and blurred vision have been associated with lower quality of life (Kim *et al.*, 2017; Medeiros *et al.*, 2014).

There are [several](#) studies on visual impairment in Indonesia. Asrorudin (2014) investigated the effect of eye diseases and visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in a population with severe visual impairment and blindness in Indonesia (Asrorudin, 2014). Mahayana (2017) studied primary school children in 3 districts in Yogyakarta Province and 1 district near the province to find the prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural children (Mahayana,

Indrawati and Pawiroranu, 2017). Sasongko (2017) reported the prevalence of diabetic-related blindness of people residing in Yogyakarta (Sasongko *et al.*, 2017). Muhit (2018) examined 195 children aged 0-15 years in Sumba and Yogyakarta to study the epidemiology of childhood blindness (Muhit *et al.*, 2018).

AIM

This study aimed to compare quality of life of people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, **which has not been conducted previously in Indonesia.**

Commented [A1]: You state earlier the research by Asrorudin which also looked at quality of life...

Commented [A2]: Why is it important that this research is done? And why in Indonesia?

METHODS

This cross-sectional study collected data from adults aged 18 years and over with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness.

WHO defines mild visual impairment as having visual acuity **less than 6/12 and equal to or better than 6/18**, moderate visual impairment between 6/18 and 6/60, severe visual impairment between 6/60 and 3/60, and blindness to be worse than 3/60 in the better eye with best correction (WHO, 2019).

Commented [A3]: How is normal vision and blindness defined?

Respondents in **Group 2 had either mild or moderate visual impairment, while those in Group 3 had moderate to severe visual impairment.** Participants were recruited using purposive sampling. Visual acuity of respondents with visual impairment was examined by an ophthalmologist, and that of those with normal vision and blindness was done by a trained research assistant. **The research participants with visual impairment were recruited from the eye clinic of Bethesda Hospital in Yogyakarta, and those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers.** The respondents with blindness were clients of Badan Sosial Mardi Wuto, a social organisation for people with low vision or blindness.

Commented [A4]: Here you state that group 2 is mild/moderate and group 3 is moderate/severe.

However, the abstract says you are comparing corrected and uncorrected refractive errors. That is not the same!

Vision-related quality of life was assessed using National Eye Institute – **Vision Function Questionnaire – 25 (NEI VFQ-25)** that had been culturally adapted and used in research of Asian people (Suzukamo *et al.*, 2005; Gyawali, Paudel and Adhikari, 2012). NEI VFQ-25 has 12 subscales. The total score is the sum of the 12 subscales scores. The respondents with blindness did not drive, so all of them scored 0 in the driving subscale. Multivariate ANOVA was conducted to test the

Commented [A5]: Are the groups comparable if they are coming from different sources? Why were the two other groups (normal and blind) not recruited from the eye clinic?

Commented [A6]: This questionnaire measures function? Function is not per se the same as quality of life; why would you use this to measure quality of life?

differences of the NEI-VFQ total and 11 subscale (excluding driving) scores among the four with age and sex as covariates. Post hoc analyses using Dunnett C were conducted to find differences between respondent groups.

Ethical Clearance was obtained from the ethics committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana. Detailed explanation was given to the participants to acquire their written informed consent and to assure them about confidentiality and anonymity of the data.

RESULTS

Data were collected from 162 respondents: 41 people with normal vision (Group 1), 41 people with corrected visual impairment (Group 2), 40 people with uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3) and 40 people with blindness (Group 4). There were 28 females and 13 males in Group 1, 25 females and 16 males in Group 2, 19 females and 21 males in Group 3, 26 females and 14 males in Group 4. The mean and standard deviation of age were 33.59 ± 7.194 years in Group 1, 52.85 ± 14.307 years in Group 2, 60.98 ± 15.58 years in Group 3 and 46.83 ± 12.09 years in Group 4.

The most common cause of visual impairment in Group 2 was cataract (61%), followed by refractive disorders (24%) and glaucoma (7%). Cataract was also the most common cause of visual impairment in Group 3 (65%), followed by glaucoma (15%), diabetic retinopathy (12.5%) and Age Macular Degeneration (2.5%). Meanwhile, in respondents with blindness, measles (87.5%) was the most common cause of blindness since childhood, followed by congenital cataracts (7.5%) and respectively glaucoma and retinal detachment (2.5%). The majority of Group 2 (85%) and Group 3 (65%) respondents had visual impairment for less than 5 years, while respondents in Group 4 had been blind for more than 10 years (100%).

Most respondents had high school education in Group 1 (47.5%) and Group 3 (62.5%). In Group 2, 52.5% people had college education. Meanwhile respondents with blindness had the lowest level of education, 27.5% never went to school and 50% had elementary school education.

The majority of respondents in Group 1 and Group worked (75% and 57.5%, respectively). Half of the study participants in Group 3 worked, and most of those who did not work were pensioners. Almost

Commented [A7]: Which group?

all (97.5%) of the respondents with blindness worked as masseurs. In Indonesia, the department of social affairs provides free masseur training program for people with blindness.

The quality of life of respondents with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses were presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Vision-related Quality of life of people with normal vision (Group 1), corrected visual impairment (Group 2), uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3) and blindness (Group 4) and results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses of the 4 groups

Quality of Life	Group 1 (G1)	Group 2 (G2)	Group 3 (G3)	Group 4 (G4)	Multivariate ANOVA		Post-hoc analyses
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	F	p	
Total	946.84 ± 47.240	946.84 ± 47.240	781.29 ± 128.690	418.90 ± 89.468	282.469	<0.001	G1>G2** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
General health	59.76 ± 15.690	55.610 ± 13.332	40.000 ± 21.780	44.375 ± 18.334	7,391	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4**
General vision	81.95 ± 6.008	77.561 ± 6.626	58.500 ± 12.310	15.000 ± 19.612	243,605	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3***

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

							G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Ocular pain	90.55 ± 14.344	82.317 ± 17.280	83.438 ± 21.067	75.300 ± 22.562	4,197	0,007	G1>G4***
Near vision activities	99.02 ± 2.650	96.37 ± 6.495	64.782 ± 20.283	39.574 ± 11.757	204,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Distance vision activities	98.63 ± 3.048	98.80 ± 3.487	69.995 ± 22.713	28.936 ± 8.427	285,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Social functioning	93.54 ± 8.571	88.83 ± 12.221	90.625 ± 12.894	55.000 ± 14.925	88,360	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Mental health	98.00 ± 5.996	86.37 ± 18.208	65.625 ± 14.572	67.506 ± 15.453	31,393	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Dependency	97.95 ± 5.882	86.66 ± 15.106	64.787 ± 16.616	57.275 ± 17.314	56,033	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3***

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

							G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Role difficulties	89.98 ± 22.469	79.80 ± 31.610	68.750 ± 24.677	56.563 ± 19.812	10,615	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Colour vision	99.39 ± 3.904	97.56 ± 15.617	98.750 ± 7.906	18.750 ± 30.356	208,119	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Peripheral vision	99.39 ± 3.904	96.95 ± 16.003	85.000 ± 24.547	5.000 ± 14.097	330,665	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***

** p<0.01

*** p<0.001

Multivariate ANOVA that included age and sex as covariates, revealed a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total score among the four groups of respondents. Group 1 had the highest mean total quality of life score and Group 4 had the lowest. Post hoc analyses revealed there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 respondents, but Group 1 and Group 2 respondents had significantly higher score than Group 3 and Group 4. The total quality of life score of Group 3 respondents was significantly higher than that of Group 4.

The mean quality of life scores of 11 subscales for the four groups of respondents varied, although the mean scores of almost all subscale scores in Group1 tended to be the highest, and those of Group 4 were likely to be the lowest.

In the general health subscale, post hoc analysis showed respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher general health score than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 1

and Group 2 were reasonably healthy as the percentage of them having self-reported chronic diseases was lower than 20%. Almost half (47.5%) of respondents in Group 3 and 35% of those in Group 4 reported to have chronic health condition.

In the general vision subscale, there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2. Correction of Group 2 respondents' vision had a positive impact on the quality of life general vision subscale. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher scores than respondents of Group 3 and Group 4. Failure to make visual correction leading to uncorrected visual impairment or even blindness caused lower quality of life general vision subscale.

The results of near vision activities and distance vision activities subscales showed that visual correction helped people to have better ability to conduct near vision activities like reading a book, cooking, sewing or fixing things at home, and distance vision activities such as reading street signs, watching movies, going up and downstairs at night.

In the social functioning subscale, the respondents in Group 1, Group 2 and Group 3 had significantly higher score than Group 4. Group 2 and Group 3 respondents were able to understand other people's reaction during conversation or behave as expected when they were visiting people or attending a party despite their visual limitation. People with blindness had more difficulties in fulfilling their social function ~~that~~ which affected their quality of life.

In the mental health subscale, Group 1 had significantly higher score than the three groups. Group 2 respondents worried about their vision, felt some frustration, had less control on what they did and worried ~~about of getting being~~ embarrassed due to their visual impairment. Group 3 and Group 4 individuals had bigger problems compared to Group 2 respondents, leading to lower quality of life.

Post hoc analysis showed that Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher quality of life role difficulties subscale than Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 3 and Group 4 thought that they could not complete tasks on time and their performance was lower because of their visual problem. Group 2 individuals did not think that their visual impairment affected their performance.

In the dependency subscale, Group 1 had significantly higher score than the other groups. Respondents in Group 2 felt some dependency on what other people said and needed help from other

people because of their visual problem. Individuals in Group 3 had worse problems than Group 2.

Commented [A8]: Worse problems/bigger problems is a judgement call which is not up to you to make. I would use the terminology of: having more difficulties or something like that.

Group 4 respondents had bigger problems and even felt they were forced to stay at home most of the time because of their blindness.

Group 1 and Group 2 individuals had significantly higher quality-of-life-peripheral vision subscales than Group 3 and Group 4. People in Group 2 did not think that they had significant difficulties in seeing things off to sides, while those in Group 3 and Group 4 did.

There was no significant difference among respondents in Group 1, Group 2 and Group 3 in the colour vision subscale. The three groups had significantly higher score than Group 4. Individuals in Group 2 and Group 3 did not have a significant problem in matching clothes, but those in Group 4 had a lot of problem in doing the task.

DISCUSSION

People with normal vision had the highest total NEI VFQ-25 score and those with blindness had the lowest, indicating that quality of life decreases with the worsening of visual acuity, in accordance with other studies conducted in other countries (Yibekal *et al.*, 2020; Fleming, Farrokhyar and Sabri, 2019; Tharaldsen *et al.*, 2020).

Commented [A9]: Like you explain earlier, the NEI FVQ focuses on functioning, not on quality of life. If you want to translate it to quality of life, please demonstrate in your introduction which theory you are using to do so.

Based on the NEI VFQ-25 subscale analysis, quality-of-life-related-to-general health was found to be higher in respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment than those with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. This result suggests that visual acuity may be an indicator of general health. Vision impairment has been associated with chronic condition in older adults (Court *et al.*, 2014; Crews *et al.*, 2017). People with visual impairment are more likely to have health problems compared to individuals with normal vision. Other researchers found cataract as a predictor of mortality in people aged over 50 years (Zhu *et al.*, 2016; Zhu *et al.*, 2019). A recent review reported the poor vision as a risk factor of falls in older adults that may lead to fatality (Joseph, Kumar and Bagavandas, 2019). This might partly explain the finding in this study where more than half of the respondents were over 50 years of age.

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Field Code Changed

Field Code Changed

Commented [A10]: Please clarify: do you mean respondents stated having bad health because of their visual impairment or because of their age?

Subscales of general vision, near vision activities, distance vision activities and peripheral vision showed a significant difference where respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment had higher [quality of life](#) [levels of functioning](#) than individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness. Visual correction may improve quality of life, while more severe visual impairment may cause more adverse effect on quality of life. This finding is consistent with other studies showing that best-corrected visual acuity can have positive impact on quality of life (Råen *et al.*, 2019).

There was no significant difference in the ocular pain subscale among respondents with corrected vision, uncorrected vision and blindness. Ocular pain is commonly associated with ocular surface disease found in most people with glaucoma, and the number of respondents with glaucoma in this study was low, and this might explain the result (Baudouin *et al.*, 2013; Tirpack *et al.*, 2019).

This study suggests that visual acuity does not affect social functioning until someone becomes blind. This finding is similar to studies that reported no significant difference in social function between people with normal vision and those with visual impairment (Dev *et al.*, 2014; Heine, Browning and Gong, 2019). Respondents with visual impairment could still carry out their social functions despite obstacles in doing so. Respondents with blindness found many difficulties in carrying out their social functions, and they experienced social isolation. Although most of the study participants with blindness worked as masseurs, they only waited for clients to come because they had problems in moving around the city due to their visual condition.

This study indicates that vision affects mental health. A study of older people has associated self-reported visual impairment with depression (Frank *et al.*, 2019). Vision problems have been associated with worse psychosocial outcomes. Visual impairment cause problems in doing everyday activities, i.e. reading newspaper, recognising people. People with those problems have been reported to have lower life satisfaction, increased depressive symptoms and decreased positive affect (Hajek *et al.*, 2020).

Dependency was different among all four groups; it increased with decreasing visual acuity. This study shows that uncorrected visual impairment can lead to role difficulties, which is consistent with

other researchers who found that greater visual impairment affect psychosocial parameters, including role difficulty (Zhu *et al.*, 2015). Visual impairment forces one to take longer time to finish tasks leading to lower performance.

Respondents in Groups 2 had lower quality life in dependency subscale than those with normal vision despite their corrected vision. More than half participants in Group 2 wore glasses to correct their visual impairment. Glasses help people do a lot of activities, but glasses wearers complain the inconvenience of having frequent eye check-ups and glasses replacement to keep good vision (Kandel *et al.*, 2017). Without glasses, they need help from others to do tasks. Visual impairment decreases one's independence in doing activities of daily living, making one dependent on other people. Individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness have more dependency on others in their daily lives.

This study suggests that neither corrected nor uncorrected visual impairment creates a significant problem in colour vision, but blindness does. This finding is consistent with other researchers who reported similar result (Zhu *et al.*, 2015).

Limitations

This study assessed vision-related quality of life based on the levels of vision, and did not analyse by specific diagnosis.

CONCLUSION

It can be concluded that there are significant differences in quality of life related to vision among people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's quality of life. However, it has differential impact on different elements of quality of life. There are no significant difference between people with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in most subscales suggesting that visual correction can improve quality of life, highlighting the importance of visual acuity correction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank all the participants of this research.

There is no financial support received for this research, no conflicts of interest of the researchers.

REFERENCES

Asrorudin, M. (2014) 'The impact of Visual Impairment and Eye Diseases on the Vision Related Quality of Life in a Population with Severe Visually Impairment and Blindness' (*Dampak Gangguan Penglihatan dan Penyakit Mata Terhadap Kualitas Hidup terkait Penglihatan Pada Populasi Gangguan Penglihatan Berat dan Buta*), Masters Thesis, University of Indonesia, Jakarta.

Baudouin, C. *et al.* (2013) 'Prevalence and risk factors for ocular surface disease among patients treated over the long term for glaucoma or ocular hypertension', *European Journal of Ophthalmology*, 23, pp. 47–54.

Christ, S. *et al.* (2014) 'Longitudinal relationships among visual acuity, daily functional status, and mortality: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation Study', *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 132(12), pp. 1400–1406. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.2847.

Court, H. *et al.* (2014) 'Visual impairment is associated with physical and mental comorbidities in older adults : a cross-sectional study', *BMC Medicine*, 12(181). doi: 10.1186/s12916-014-0181-7.

Crews, J. E. *et al.* (2017) 'The prevalence of chronic conditions and poor health among people with and without vision impairment, aged ≥ 65 years, 2010-2014', *American Journal of Ophthalmology*. Elsevier Inc., 182, pp. 18–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.038.

Dev, M. K. *et al.* (2014) 'Psycho-social impact of visual impairment on health-related quality of life among nursing home residents', *BMC Health Services Research*, 14, pp. 1–7.

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Fleming, N., Farrokhyar, F. and Sabri, K. (2019) 'Assessment of the visual function of partially sighted and blind Canadian youth using the VFQ-25 questionnaire : a preliminary study', *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology/Journal canadien d'ophtalmologie*. Elsevier Inc., 54(6), pp. 674–677. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2019.04.012.

Frank, C. R. *et al.* (2019) 'Longitudinal Associations of Self-reported Vision Impairment With Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression Among Older Adults in the United States', *JAMA Op*, 137(7), pp. 793–800. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.1085.

Gyawali, R., Paudel, N. and Adhikari, P. (2012) 'Quality of life in Nepalese patients with low vision and the impact of low vision services', *Journal of Optometry*, 5, pp. 188–195. doi: 10.1016/j.optom.2012.05.002.

Hajek, A. *et al.* (2020) 'Association of vision problems with psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older individuals : findings from a nationally representative study', *Aging & Mental Health*. Routledge, 13, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2020.1725806.

Heine, C., Browning, C. J. and Gong, C. H. (2019) 'Sensory Loss in China : Prevalence , Use of Aids , and Impacts on Social Participation', *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7(5), pp. 1–14. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00005.

IHME (2017) *Global Burden of Diseases Data Visualization*. Available at: <https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/>.

Joseph, A., Kumar, D. and Bagavandas, M. (2019) 'A Review of Epidemiology of Fall among Elderly in India', *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 44(2), pp. 166–168.

Kandel, H. *et al.* (2017) 'Uncorrected and corrected refractive error experiences of Nepalese adults : a qualitative study', *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*. Taylor & Francis, 25(2), pp. 147–161. doi: 10.1080/09286586.2017.1376338.

Ministry of Health, Republic of Indonesia (2013) *Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2013*.

Kim, Y. *et al.* (2017) 'The impact of visual symptoms on the quality of life of patients with early to moderate glaucoma', *International Ophthalmology*, 38(4), pp. 1531–1539. doi: 10.1007/s10792-017-0616-1.

Mahayana, I. T., Indrawati, S. G. and Pawiroranu, S. (2017) 'The prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural primary school children in Indonesian population', *International Journal of Ophthalmology*, 10(11), pp. 1771–1776. doi: 10.18240/ijo.2017.11.21.

Medeiros, F. *et al.* (2014) 'Longitudinal changes in quality of life and rates of progressive visual field loss in glaucoma patients', *Ophthalmology*, 122(2), pp. 293–301. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.08.014.

Muhit, M. *et al.* (2018) 'The epidemiology of childhood blindness and severe visual impairment in Indonesia', *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 102(11), pp. 1543–1549. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2017-311416.

Pardhan, S. *et al.* (2015) 'Objective Analysis of Performance of Activities of Daily Living in People With Central Field Loss.', *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 56(12), pp. 169–178. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-16556.

Råen, M. *et al.* (2019) 'Are Elderly Patients Optimally Corrected with Spectacles in the Longer Term after Cataract Surgery?', *Optometry and Vision Science*, 96(5), pp. 362–366. doi:

10.1097/OPX.0000000000001371.

Sasongko, M. B. *et al.* (2017) 'Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy and Blindness in Indonesian Adults with Type 2 Diabetes', *American Journal of Ophthalmology*. Elsevier Inc., 181, pp. 79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.019.

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Suzukamo, Y. *et al.* (2005) 'Psychometric properties of the 25-item National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25), Japanese version', *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 3(65), pp. 1–11. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-3-65.

Tharaldsen, A. R. *et al.* (2020) 'Vision related quality of life in patients with occipital stroke.', *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*, 141. doi: 10.1111/ane.13232.

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Tirpack, A. R. *et al.* (2019) 'Dry Eye Symptoms and Ocular Pain in Veterans with Glaucoma', *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(7). doi: 10.3390/jcm8071076.

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

WHO (2019) *World report on vision*, World Health Organization.

Yibekal, B. *et al.* (2020) 'Vision-Related Quality of Life among Adult Patients with Visual Impairment at University of Gondar, Northwest Ethiopia', *Journal of Ophthalmology*. 11, pp. 1-7, doi: 10.1155/2020/9056097

Zhu, M. *et al.* (2015) 'Evaluating vision-related quality of life in preoperative age-related cataract patients and analyzing its influencing factors in China: A cross-sectional study Cataract and refractive surgery', *BMC Ophthalmology*. BMC Ophthalmology, 15(1), pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12886-015-0150-8.

Zhu, Z. *et al.* (2016) 'Cataract-Related Visual Impairment Corrected by Cataract Surgery and 10-Year Mortality : The Liwan Eye Study', *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 57, pp. 2290–2295. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-17673.

Zhu, Z. *et al.* (2019) 'Age-related cataract and 10-year mortality: the Liwan Eye Study', *Acta Ophthalmologica*, pp. 1–5. doi: 10.1111/aos.14258.

Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on [Vision-Related](#) Quality of Life: Comparing Among People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia

The Maria Meiwati Widagdo^{1*}, Yunita Rappun¹, Aprilia Vetricia Gandrung¹, Edy Wibowo²

1. Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia
2. Department of Ophthalmology, Bethesda Hospital, Indonesia

*Corresponding author:

The Maria Meiwati Widagdo

Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana

E-mail address: maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Visual impairment is known to affect quality of life, but there has been [no previous very limited](#) studies of this association in Indonesia.

Aim: This study assessed the extent to which visual impairment impacts on vision-related quality of life in [Indonesia](#), comparing four groups of people: those with 1) normal vision, 2) corrected visual impairment, 3) uncorrected visual impairment and 4) [the blindness](#).

Methods: There were 162 respondents aged 21 to 86 years old. Those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers in Yogyakarta Indonesia. Those with corrected and uncorrected visual impairment were recruited from an eye clinic. Purposive sampling was used. This cross sectional study used NEI VFQ-25 to assess [vision-related](#) quality of life. The total and 11 NEI VFQ-25 subscales scores of four respondent groups were analysed using ANOVA, followed by post hoc analyses to reveal between group differences.

Results: There was a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total score among the four respondent groups. Respondents with normal vision had the highest score and those with blindness had the lowest. There were also significant differences among the four groups for the 11 subscales. Post hoc analyses revealed no significant difference between respondents with normal vision and corrected visual

impairment in the total and nine NEI VFQ-25 subscales. Respondents with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness had significantly lower [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#) compared to those with normal vision or corrected visual impairment in the total and five NEI VFQ-25 subscales, indicating visual impairment decreases [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#).

Conclusion: Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#). Correction of visual impairment can ~~can~~ minimise the negative impact of visual impairment on vision-related quality of life. Failure to correct visual impairment leads to significantly lower [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#).

Key words: Quality of life, visual acuity, blindness, visual correction, Indonesia

INTRODUCTION

The Global Burden of Diseases project conducted in 2017 reported that blindness and visual impairment caused 1.19% of DALYs globally (IHME, 2017). WHO released the World Report on Vision in 2019 and estimated that the number of people with visual impairments worldwide was 2.2 billion (WHO, 2019). The Ministry of Health of [the](#) Republic of Indonesia reported that the population with severe visual impairment was more than 2 million people and the number of people with blindness was greater than 900,000 people (Ministry of Health, 2013).

People with visual impairments experience limitations in carrying out various activities in their lives. They need more time to complete tasks like eating and drinking because they have difficulty in identifying food on a plate [or](#); pouring liquid into a glass because of their visual impairment (Pardhan *et al.*, 2015). Independence in conducting activities of daily living decreases as the visual impairment worsens (Christ *et al.*, 2014). Reduced visual acuity, decreased visual field and blurred vision have been associated with lower quality of life (Kim *et al.*, 2017; Medeiros *et al.*, 2014).

There are [several](#) studies on [the prevalence of](#) visual impairment in Indonesia. [Asrorudin \(2014\) investigated the effect of eye diseases and visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in a population with severe visual impairment and blindness in Indonesia \(Asrorudin, 2014\).](#) Mahayana (2017) studied primary school children in 3 districts in Yogyakarta Province and 1 district near the

province to find the prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural children (Mahayana, Indrawati and Pawiroranu, 2017). Sasongko (2017) reported the prevalence of diabetic-related blindness of people residing in Yogyakarta (Sasongko *et al.*, 2017). Muhit (2018) examined 195 children aged 0-15 years in Sumba and Yogyakarta to study the epidemiology of childhood blindness (Muhit *et al.*, 2018).

Although much is known on the numbers of people with visual impairment, Indonesia still lacks studies on how visual impairment affects vision-related quality of life. Asrorudin (2014) investigated the effect of eye diseases and visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in a population with severe visual impairment and blindness in Indonesia (Asrorudin, 2014). However, no studies have compared vision-related quality of life between people with normal vision and people with different levels of visual impairment. The comparison between subjects with varying visual function will help elucidate the impact of visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia.

AIM

This study aimed to compare quality of life of people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, which has not been conducted previously in Indonesia.

METHODS

This cross-sectional study collected data from adults aged 18 years and over. The respondents were classified into 4 groups. Group 1 contained people with normal vision. Group 2 consisted of people with corrected visual impairment. Group 3 subjects had visual impairment who remained uncorrected although using visual aid. Group 4 subjects were legally blind.

~~with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness.~~

WHO defines normal vision as visual acuity of 6/6, mild visual impairment as having visual acuity less than 6/12 and equal to or better than 6/18, moderate visual impairment between 6/18 and 6/60, severe visual impairment between 6/60 and 3/60, and blindness to as visual acuity be worse than 3/60

Commented [A1]: You state earlier the research by Asrorudin which also looked at quality of life...

Commented [A2R1]: The subjects of Asrorudin's study were all patients with severe visual impairment and blindness. There has been no study comparing the vision-related quality of life of people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness.

Commented [A3]: Why is it important that this research is done? And why in Indonesia?

Commented [A4R3]: There has been limited studies on the vision-related quality of life of Indonesian people

Commented [A5]: How is normal vision and blindness defined?

Commented [A6R5]: We have added the definition.

in the better eye with best correction (WHO, 2019). [People with corrected visual impairment could reach 6/6 visual acuity with visual aids. People with uncorrected visual impairment still had visual acuity below 6/6 even using visual aids.](#)

Respondents in Group 2 had either mild or moderate visual impairment, while those in Group 3 had moderate to severe visual impairment. Participants were recruited using purposive sampling. Visual acuity of respondents with visual impairment was examined by an ophthalmologist, and that of those with normal vision and blindness was done by a trained research assistant. The research participants with visual impairment were recruited from the eye clinic of Bethesda Hospital in Yogyakarta, and those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers. The respondents with blindness were clients of Badan Sosial Mardi Wuto, a social organisation for people with low vision or blindness. Vision-related quality of life was assessed using National Eye Institute – Vision Function Questionnaire – 25 (NEI VFQ-25). [This questionnaire has been used to measure vision-related quality of life, including in that had been culturally adapted and used in research of Asian people \(Suzukamo *et al.*, 2005; Gyawali, Paudel and Adhikari, 2012\); \(Cortina and Hallak, 2015\); \(Saboo *et al.*, 2017\); \(Nickels *et al.*, 2017\).](#) NEI VFQ-25 has 12 subscales. The total score is the sum of the 12 subscales scores. The respondents with blindness did not drive, so all of them scored 0 in the driving subscale. Multivariate ANOVA was conducted to test the differences of the NEI-VFQ total and 11 subscale (excluding driving) scores among the four with age and sex as covariates. Post hoc analyses using Dunnett C were conducted to find differences between respondent groups. Ethical Clearance was obtained from the ethics committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana. Detailed explanation was given to the participants to acquire their written informed consent and to assure them about confidentiality and anonymity of the data.

RESULTS

Data were collected from 162 respondents: 41 people with normal vision (Group 1), 41 people with corrected visual impairment (Group 2), 40 people with uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3) and

Commented [A7]: Here you state that group 2 is mild/moderate and group 3 is moderate/severe.

However, the abstract says you are comparing corrected and uncorrected refractive errors. That is not the same!

Commented [A8R7]: We have corrected in the first and second paragraphs in the method section.

Commented [A9]: Are the groups comparable if they are coming from different sources? Why were the two other groups (normal and blind) not recruited from the eye clinic?

Commented [A10R9]: We have acknowledged it in the research limitation

Commented [A11]: This questionnaire measures function? Function is not per se the same as quality of life; why would you use this to measure quality of life?

Field Code Changed

40 people with blindness (Group 4). There were 28 females and 13 males in Group 1, 25 females and 16 males in Group 2, 19 females and 21 males in Group 3, 26 females and 14 males in Group 4. The mean and standard deviation of age were $33.59 \pm 7,194$ years in Group 1, $52.85 \pm 14,307$ years in Group 2, 60.98 ± 15.58 years in Group 3 and 46.83 ± 12.09 years in Group 4.

The most common cause of visual impairment in Group 2 was cataract (61%), followed by refractive disorders (24%) and glaucoma (7%). Cataract was also the most common cause of visual impairment in Group 3 (65%), followed by glaucoma (15%), diabetic retinopathy (12.5%) and Age Macular Degeneration (2.5%). Meanwhile, in respondents with blindness, measles (87.5%) was the most common cause of blindness since childhood, followed by congenital cataracts (7.5%) and respectively glaucoma and retinal detachment (2.5%). The majority of Group 2 (85%) and Group 3 (65%) respondents had visual impairment for less than 5 years, while respondents in Group 4 had been blind for more than 10 years (100%).

Most respondents had high school education in Group 1 (47.5%) and Group 3 (62.5%). In Group 2, 52.5% people had college education. Meanwhile respondents with blindness had the lowest level of education, 27.5% never went to school and 50% had elementary school education.

The majority of respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 worked (75% and 57.5%, respectively). Half of the study participants in Group 3 worked, and most of those who did not work were pensioners.

Almost all (97.5%) of the respondents with blindness worked as masseurs. In Indonesia, the department of social affairs provides free masseur training program for people with blindness.

The [quality of life](#) [vision-related quality of life](#) of respondents with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses were presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Vision-related Quality of life of people with normal vision (Group 1), corrected visual impairment (Group 2), uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3) and blindness (Group 4) and results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses of the 4 groups

Commented [A12]: Which group?

Commented [A13R12]: Group 2

Quality of Life Vision-related quality of life	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4	Multivariate ANOVA		Post-hoc analyses
	(G1)	(G2)	(G3)	(G4)	F	p	
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD			
Total	946.84 ± 47.240	946.84 ± 47.240	781.29 ± 128.690	418.90 ± 89.468	282.469	<0.001	G1>G2** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
General health	59.76 ± 15.690	55.610 ± 13.332	40.000 ± 21.780	44.375 ± 18.334	7,391	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4**
General vision	81.95 ± 6.008	77.561 ± 6.626	58.500 ± 12.310	15.000 ± 19.612	243,605	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Ocular pain	90.55 ± 14.344	82.317 ± 17.280	83.438 ± 21.067	75.300 ± 22.562	4,197	0,007	G1>G4***
Near vision activities	99.02 ± 2.650	96.37 ± 6.495	64.782 ± 20.283	39.574 ± 11.757	204,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

							G3>G4***
Distance vision activities	98.63 ± 3.048	98.80 ± 3.487	69.995 ± 22.713	28.936 ± 8.427	285,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Social functioning	93.54 ± 8.571	88.83 ± 12.221	90.625 ± 12.894	55.000 ± 14.925	88,360	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Mental health	98.00 ± 5.996	86.37 ± 18.208	65.625 ± 14.572	67.506 ± 15.453	31,393	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Dependenc y	97.95 ± 5.882	86.66 ± 15.106	64.787 ± 16.616	57.275 ± 17.314	56,033	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Role difficulties	89.98 ± 22.469	79.80 ± 31.610	68.750 ± 24.677	56.563 ± 19.812	10,615	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Colour vision	99.39 ± 3.904	97.56 ± 15.617	98.750 ± 7.906	18.750 ± 30.356	208,119	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4***

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

							G3>G4***
Peripheral vision	99.39 ± 3.904	96.95 ± 16.003	85.000 ± 24.547	5.000 ± 14.097	330,665	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***

** p<0.01

*** p<0.001

Multivariate ANOVA that included age and sex as covariates, revealed a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total score among the four groups of respondents. Group 1 had the highest mean total [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#) score and Group 4 had the lowest. Post hoc analyses revealed there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 respondents, but Group 1 and Group 2 respondents had significantly higher score than Group 3 and Group 4. The total [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#) score of Group 3 respondents was significantly higher than that of Group 4.

The mean [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#) scores of 11 subscales for the four groups of respondents varied, although the mean scores of almost all subscale scores in Group 1 tended to be the highest, and those of Group 4 were likely to be the lowest.

In the general health subscale, post hoc analysis showed respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher general health score than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were reasonably healthy as the percentage of them having self-reported chronic diseases was lower than 20%. Almost half (47.5%) of respondents in Group 3 and 35% of those in Group 4 reported to have chronic health condition.

In the general vision subscale, there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2.

Correction of Group 2 respondents' vision had a positive impact on the [quality of life vision-related quality of life](#) general vision subscale. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher scores than respondents of Group 3 and Group 4. Failure to make visual correction leading to

uncorrected visual impairment or even blindness caused lower ~~quality of life~~ vision-related quality of life general vision subscale.

The results of near vision activities and distance vision activities subscales showed that visual correction helped people to have better ability to conduct near vision activities like reading a book, cooking, sewing or fixing things at home, and distance vision activities such as reading street signs, watching movies, going up and downstairs at night.

In the social functioning subscale, the respondents in Group 1, Group 2 and Group 3 had significantly higher score than Group 4. Group 2 and Group 3 respondents were able to understand other people's reaction during conversation or behave as expected when they were visiting people or attending a party despite their visual limitation. People with blindness had more difficulties in fulfilling their social function ~~that which~~ affected their ~~quality of life~~ vision-related quality of life.

In the mental health subscale, Group 1 had significantly higher score than the three groups. Group 2 respondents worried about their vision, felt some frustration, had less control on what they did and worried ~~about of getting being~~ embarrassed due to their visual impairment. Group 3 and Group 4 individuals had bigger problems compared to Group 2 respondents, leading to lower ~~quality of life~~ vision-related quality of life.

Post hoc analysis showed that Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher ~~quality of life~~ vision-related quality of life role difficulties subscale than Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 3 and Group 4 thought that they could not complete tasks on time and their performance was lower because of their visual problem. Group 2 individuals did not think that their visual impairment affected their performance.

In the dependency subscale, Group 1 had significantly higher score than the other groups.

Respondents in Group 2 felt some dependency on what other people said and needed help from other people because of their visual problem. Individuals in Group 3 ~~and Group 4~~ had ~~worse problems~~ more difficulties than Group 2. Group 4 respondents ~~had bigger problems and~~ even felt they were forced to stay at home most of the time because of their blindness.

Group 1 and Group 2 individuals had significantly higher ~~quality of life~~ peripheral vision subscales

Commented [A14]: Worse problems/bigger problems is a judgement call which is not up to you to make. I would use the terminology of: having more difficulties or something like that.

Commented [A15R14]: We have revised the paper.

than Group 3 and Group 4. People in Group 2 did not think that they had significant difficulties in seeing things off to sides, while those in Group 3 and Group 4 did.

There was no significant difference among respondents in Group 1, Group 2 and Group 3 in the colour vision subscale. The three groups had significantly higher score than Group 4. Individuals in Group 2 and Group 3 did not have a significant problem in matching clothes, but those in Group 4 had a lot of problem in doing the task.

DISCUSSION

People with normal vision had the highest total NEI VFQ-25 score and those with blindness had the lowest, indicating that ~~quality of life~~ vision-related quality of life decreases with the worsening of visual acuity, in accordance with other studies conducted in other countries (Yibekal *et al.*, 2020; Fleming, Farrokhyar and Sabri, 2019; Tharaldsen *et al.*, 2020).

Based on the NEI VFQ-25 subscale analysis, ~~quality of life related to~~ general health was found to be higher in respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment than those with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. This result suggests that visual acuity may be an indicator of general health. Vision impairment has been associated with chronic condition in older adults (Court *et al.*, 2014; Crews *et al.*, 2017). People with visual impairment are more likely to have health problems compared to individuals with normal vision. Other researchers found cataract as a predictor of mortality in people aged over 50 years (Zhu *et al.*, 2016; Zhu *et al.*, 2019). A recent review reported ~~the~~ poor vision as a risk factor of falls in older adults that may lead to fatality (Joseph, Kumar and Bagavandas, 2019). ~~This might partly explain the finding in this study where more than half of the respondents were over 50 years of age.~~

Subscales of general vision, near vision activities, distance vision activities and peripheral vision showed a significant difference where respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment had higher ~~quality of life~~ levels of functioning than individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness. Visual correction may improve ~~quality of life~~ vision-related quality of life, while more severe visual impairment may cause more adverse effect on ~~quality of life~~ vision-related

Commented [A16]: Like you explain earlier, the NEI FVQ focuses on functioning, not on quality of life. If you want to translate it to quality of life, please demonstrate in your introduction which theory you are using to do so.

Commented [A17R16]: We have added information how NEI-VFQ has been used in studies as a tool to measure vision-related quality of life in the methods section.

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: Dutch (Netherlands)

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Commented [A18]: Please clarify: do you mean respondents stated having bad health because of their visual impairment or because of their age?

Commented [A19R18]: We have deleted this sentence, which might cause confusion.

[quality of life](#). This finding is consistent with other studies showing that best-corrected visual acuity can have positive impact on [vision-related quality of life](#) (Råen *et al.*, 2019).

There was no significant difference in the ocular pain subscale among respondents with corrected vision, uncorrected vision and blindness. Ocular pain is commonly associated with ocular surface disease found in most people with glaucoma, and the number of respondents with glaucoma in this study was low, and this might explain the result (Baudouin *et al.*, 2013; Tirpack *et al.*, 2019).

This study suggests that visual acuity does not affect social functioning until someone becomes blind. This finding is similar to studies that reported no significant difference in social function between people with normal vision and those with visual impairment (Dev *et al.*, 2014; Heine, Browning and Gong, 2019). Respondents with visual impairment could still carry out their social functions despite obstacles in doing so. Respondents with blindness found many difficulties in carrying out their social functions, and they experienced social isolation. Although most of the study participants with blindness worked as masseurs, they only waited for clients to come because they had problems in moving around the city due to their visual condition.

This study indicates that vision affects mental health. A study of older people has associated self-reported visual impairment with depression (Frank *et al.*, 2019). Vision problems have been associated with worse psychosocial outcomes. Visual impairment cause problems in doing everyday activities, i.e. reading newspaper, recognising people. People with those problems have been reported to have lower life satisfaction, increased depressive symptoms and decreased positive affect (Hajek *et al.*, 2020).

Dependency was different among all four groups; it increased with decreasing visual acuity. This study shows that uncorrected visual impairment can lead to role difficulties, which is consistent with other researchers who found that greater visual impairment affect psychosocial parameters, including role difficulty (Zhu *et al.*, 2015). Visual impairment forces one to take longer time to finish tasks leading to lower performance.

Respondents in Groups 2 had lower quality life in dependency subscale than those with normal vision despite their corrected vision. More than half participants in Group 2 wore glasses to correct their

visual impairment. Glasses help people do a lot of activities, but glasses wearers complain the inconvenience of having frequent eye check-ups and glasses replacement to keep good vision (Kandel *et al.*, 2017). Without glasses, they need help from others to do tasks. Visual impairment decreases one's independence in doing activities of daily living, making one dependent on other people. Individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness have more dependency on others in their daily lives.

This study suggests that neither corrected nor uncorrected visual impairment creates a significant problem in colour vision, but blindness does. This finding is consistent with other researchers who reported similar result (Zhu *et al.*, 2015).

Limitations

This study assessed vision-related quality of life based on the levels of vision, and did not analyse by specific diagnosis.

[Comparison between the groups may have been hampered by the different source of research participants. Group 1 and 4 subjects were recruited from the community, while Group 2 and 3 participants were patients from a hospital eye clinic.](#)

CONCLUSION

It can be concluded that there are significant differences in [quality of lifevision-related quality of life](#) related to vision among people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's [quality of lifevision-related quality of life](#). However, it has differential impact on different elements of [quality of lifevision-related quality of life](#). There are no significant difference between people with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in most subscales suggesting that visual correction can improve [quality of lifevision-related quality of life](#), highlighting the importance of visual acuity correction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank all the participants of this research.

There is no financial support received for this research, no conflicts of interest of the researchers.

REFERENCES

Asrorudin, M. (2014) 'The impact of Visual Impairment and Eye Diseases on the Vision Related Quality of Life in a Population with Severe Visually Impairment and Blindness' (*Dampak Gangguan Penglihatan dan Penyakit Mata Terhadap Kualitas Hidup terkait Penglihatan Pada Populasi Gangguan Penglihatan Berat dan Buta*), Masters Thesis, University of Indonesia, Jakarta.

Baudouin, C. *et al.* (2013) 'Prevalence and risk factors for ocular surface disease among patients treated over the long term for glaucoma or ocular hypertension', *European Journal of Ophthalmology*, 23, pp. 47–54.

Christ, S. *et al.* (2014) 'Longitudinal relationships among visual acuity, daily functional status, and mortality: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation Study', *JAMA Ophthalmology*, 132(12), pp. 1400–1406. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.2847.

Cortina, M. S. and Hallak, J. A. (2015) 'Vision-related quality-of-life assessment using NEI VFQ-25 in patients after Boston keratoprosthesis implantation', *Cornea*, 34(2), pp. 160–164. doi: 10.1097/ICO.0000000000000310.

Court, H. *et al.* (2014) 'Visual impairment is associated with physical and mental comorbidities in older adults : a cross-sectional study', *BMC Medicine*, 12(181). doi: 10.1186/s12916-014-0181-7.

Crews, J. E. *et al.* (2017) 'The prevalence of chronic conditions and poor health among people with and without vision impairment, aged ≥ 65 years, 2010-2014', *American Journal of Ophthalmology*. Elsevier Inc., 182, pp. 18–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.038.

Dev, M. K. *et al.* (2014) 'Psycho-social impact of visual impairment on health-related quality of life among nursing home residents', *BMC Health Services Research*, 14, pp. 1–7.

Fleming, N., Farrokhyar, F. and Sabri, K. (2019) 'Assessment of the visual function of partially sighted and blind Canadian youth using the VFQ-25 questionnaire : a preliminary study', *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology/Journal canadien d'ophtalmologie*. Elsevier Inc., 54(6), pp. 674–677. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2019.04.012.

Frank, C. R. *et al.* (2019) 'Longitudinal Associations of Self-reported Vision Impairment With Symptoms of Anxiety and Depression Among Older Adults in the United States', *JAMA Op*, 137(7), pp. 793–800. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.1085.

Gyawali, R., Paudel, N. and Adhikari, P. (2012) 'Quality of life in Nepalese patients with low vision and the impact of low vision services', *Journal of Optometry*, 5, pp. 188–195. doi: 10.1016/j.optom.2012.05.002.

Hajek, A. *et al.* (2020) 'Association of vision problems with psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older individuals : findings from a nationally representative study', *Aging & Mental Health*. Routledge, 13, pp. 1–8. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2020.1725806.

Heine, C., Browning, C. J. and Gong, C. H. (2019) 'Sensory Loss in China : Prevalence , Use of Aids , and Impacts on Social Participation', *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7(5), pp. 1–14. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00005.

IHME (2017) *Global Burden of Diseases Data Visualization*. Available at: <https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/>.

Joseph, A., Kumar, D. and Bagavandas, M. (2019) 'A Review of Epidemiology of Fall among Elderly in India', *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 44(2), pp. 166–168.

Kandel, H. *et al.* (2017) 'Uncorrected and corrected refractive error experiences of Nepalese adults : a qualitative study', *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*. Taylor & Francis, 25(2), pp. 147–161. doi: 10.1080/09286586.2017.1376338.

Ministry of Health, Republic of Indonesia (2013) *Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2013*.

Kim, Y. *et al.* (2017) 'The impact of visual symptoms on the quality of life of patients with early to moderate glaucoma', *International Ophthalmology*, 38(4), pp. 1531–1539. doi: 10.1007/s10792-017-0616-1.

Mahayana, I. T., Indrawati, S. G. and Pawiroranu, S. (2017) 'The prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural primary school children in Indonesian population', *International Journal of Ophthalmology*, 10(11), pp. 1771–1776. doi: 10.18240/ijo.2017.11.21.

Medeiros, F. *et al.* (2014) 'Longitudinal changes in quality of life and rates of progressive visual field loss in glaucoma patients', *Ophthalmology*, 122(2), pp. 293–301. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.08.014.

Muhit, M. *et al.* (2018) 'The epidemiology of childhood blindness and severe visual impairment in Indonesia', *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 102(11), pp. 1543–1549. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2017-311416.

Nickels, S. *et al.* (2017) 'The National Eye Institute 25-Item Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25) - reference data from the German population-based Gutenberg Health Study (GHS)', *Health*

and *Quality of Life Outcomes*. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 15(1), pp. 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12955-017-0732-7.

Pardhan, S. *et al.* (2015) ‘Objective Analysis of Performance of Activities of Daily Living in People With Central Field Loss.’, *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 56(12), pp. 169–178. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-16556.

Råen, M. *et al.* (2019) ‘Are Elderly Patients Optimally Corrected with Spectacles in the Longer Term after Cataract Surgery?’, *Optometry and Vision Science*, 96(5), pp. 362–366. doi: 10.1097/OPX.0000000000001371.

Saboo, U. S. *et al.* (2017) ‘Vision-Related Quality of Life in Patients with Ocular Graft-versus-host Disease’, *Physiology & behavior*, 176(12), pp. 139–148. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.03.040.

Sasongko, M. B. *et al.* (2017) ‘Prevalence of Diabetic Retinopathy and Blindness in Indonesian Adults with Type 2 Diabetes’, *American Journal of Ophthalmology*. Elsevier Inc., 181, pp. 79–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.019.

Suzukamo, Y. *et al.* (2005) ‘Psychometric properties of the 25-item National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25), Japanese version’, *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 3(65), pp. 1–11. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-3-65.

Tharaldsen, A. R. *et al.* (2020) ‘Vision related quality of life in patients with occipital stroke.’, *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*, 141. doi: 10.1111/ane.13232.

Tirpack, A. R. *et al.* (2019) ‘Dry Eye Symptoms and Ocular Pain in Veterans with Glaucoma’, *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(7). doi: 10.3390/jcm8071076.

WHO (2019) *World report on vision*, World Health Organization.

Yibekal, B. *et al.* (2020) 'Vision-Related Quality of Life among Adult Patients with Visual Impairment at University of Gondar, Northwest Ethiopia', *Journal of Ophthalmology*, 11, pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1155/2020/9056097.

Zhu, M. *et al.* (2015) 'Evaluating vision-related quality of life in preoperative age-related cataract patients and analyzing its influencing factors in China: A cross-sectional study Cataract and refractive surgery', *BMC Ophthalmology*. *BMC Ophthalmology*, 15(1), pp. 1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12886-015-0150-8.

Zhu, Z. *et al.* (2016) 'Cataract-Related Visual Impairment Corrected by Cataract Surgery and 10-Year Mortality : The Liwan Eye Study', *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 57, pp. 2290–2295. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-17673.

Zhu, Z. *et al.* (2019) 'Age-related cataract and 10-year mortality: the Liwan Eye Study', *Acta Ophthalmologica*, pp. 1–5. doi: 10.1111/aos.14258.

Gmail

28 **Compose**

Mail

- Inbox 28
- Starred
- Snoozed
- Sent
- Drafts
- Categories
 - Social
 - Updates 29
 - Forums 19
 - Promotions 4
 - More
- Labels
 - FK 55
 - PSLG 1
 - JabFung 4
 - Penelitian dan Pk... 9
 - Pribadi
 - Siska
 - UKDW 19
 - YAKKUM 4
 - More

Search: **vardini**

Active

3 of 3

Re: [DCID] Revised Version Uploaded - "Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Quality of Life: Comparing Among People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia" Penelitian dan PkM Pribadi x

Editor-in-Chief <editor.dcid@gmail.com> to me

Tue, Dec 15, 2020, 9:24 AM

Dear Maria

I got the below notification from our system. Please note: Your article has already been accepted for publication and is in our copyediting stage, so any new files you upload won't be accepted by our system. Once your article has been selected for publication, we will send you a copyedited file and you can then incorporate any changes you require.

Regards
Vardini

On Mon, Dec 14, 2020 at 7:24 AM Ms The Maria Meiwati Widagdo <no-reply@ubiquitypartnernetwork.com> wrote:

Dear **Vardini P.**

A revised version of "Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Quality of Life: Comparing Among People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia" has been uploaded by the author Ms The Maria Meiwati Widagdo. Please check this revised file in light of the review comments and assess the next editorial decision (accept; decline; further revisions; re-review).

Submission URL: <https://dcidj.org/jms/editor/submissionReview/411>

Kind regards,
Vardini
Disability, CBR & Inclusive Development

Disability, CBR & Inclusive Development
<http://dcidj.org>

Disability, CBR & Inclusive Development Journal
<http://dcidj.org>

Gmail

28
Mail

Compose

Inbox 28

Starred

Snoozed

Sent

Drafts

Categories

Social

Updates 29

Forums 19

Promotions 4

More

Labels +

FK 55

PSLG 1

JabFung 4

Penelitian dan Pk... 9

Pribadi

Siska

UKDW 19

YAKKUM 4

More

Search: vardini

Active

UNIVERSITAS KRISTEN DUTA WACANA

3 of 3

Editor-in-Chief <editor.dcid@gmail.com>

to me

Dear Maria

We have now received your copyedited file and will work on it further. However, as per the instructions sent in our email.

1) Confirm you have circulated the file to your co-authors and their corrections too were incorporated into the file you sent
2) Give us your consent for publication.

Regards
Vardini

Dec 21, 2020, 1:21 PM

Maria Widagdo <maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id>

to Editor-in-Chief

Dear Ms. Vardini,

Thank you for your email.

I have circulated the file to my co-authors and they agreed with the copyedited file.

I gave my consent for publication.

Is this enough or is there any form that I have to sign?

Thank you.

maria widagdo



Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Vision-Related Quality of Life: Comparing People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia

The Maria Meiwati Widagdo^{1*}, Yunita Rappun¹, Aprilia Vetricia Gandrung¹, Edy Wibowo²

1. Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia

2. Department of Ophthalmology, Bethesda Hospital, Indonesia

*Corresponding Author: The Maria Meiwati Widagdo, Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia. Email address: maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id

Commented [VR1]: On the website only one author's name is listed. Include all author details with 5-6 line biostatements on the website's metadata.

ABSTRACT

Purpose: This study assessed the extent to which visual impairment impacts on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia, by comparing four groups of people: those with 1) normal vision, 2) corrected visual impairment, 3) uncorrected visual impairment, and 4) blindness.

Method: Purposive sampling was used. There were 162 respondents, between 21 and 86 years of age. Participants with normal vision and blindness were community-dwellers in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Those with corrected and uncorrected visual impairment were recruited from an eye clinic. This cross-sectional study used NEI VFQ-25 to assess vision-related quality of life. The total scores and 11 NEI VFQ-25 subscales scores of four respondent groups were analysed using ANOVA, followed by post-hoc analyses to reveal between group differences.

Results: There was a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total scores among the four respondent groups. Respondents with normal vision had the highest score and those with blindness had the lowest. There were also significant differences among the four groups for the 11 subscales. Post-hoc analyses revealed no significant difference between respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in the total and 9 NEI VFQ-25 subscales. Respondents with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness had significantly lower vision-related quality of life compared to those with normal vision or corrected visual impairment in the total and 5 NEI VFQ-25 subscales, indicating that visual impairment decreases vision-related quality of life.

***Conclusion:** Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's vision-related quality of life. The negative impact of visual impairment can be minimised by correction. Failure to correct visual impairment leads to significantly lower vision-related quality of life.*

***Key words:** quality of life, visual acuity, blindness, visual correction, Indonesia*

INTRODUCTION

The Global Burden of Diseases project, conducted in 2017, reported that blindness and visual impairment caused 1.19% of DALYs globally (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation - IHME, 2017). The World Health Organisation's World Report on Vision, released in 2019, estimated that the number of people with visual impairments worldwide was 2.2 billion (WHO, 2019). The Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia reported that the population with severe visual impairment was more than 2 million people and the number of people with blindness was more than 900,000 (Ministry of Health, 2013).

People with visual impairments experience limitations in carrying out various activities in their lives. They need more time to complete tasks like eating and drinking as they have difficulty in identifying food on a plate or pouring liquid into a glass because of their visual impairment (Pardhan et al, 2015). Independence in conducting activities of daily living decreases as the visual impairment worsens (Christ et al, 2014). Reduced visual acuity, decreased visual field and blurred vision have been associated with lower quality of life (Medeiros et al, 2014; Kim et al, 2017).

There are several studies on the prevalence of visual impairment in Indonesia. Mahayana et al (2017) studied primary school children in 3 districts in Yogyakarta Province and 1 district nearby to find the prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural children. Sasongko et al (2017) reported the prevalence of diabetic-related blindness of people residing in Yogyakarta. Muhit et al (2018) examined 195 children aged 0-15 years in Sumba and Yogyakarta to study the epidemiology of childhood blindness.

Although much is known about the number of people with visual impairment, Indonesia still lacks studies on how visual impairment affects vision-related quality of life. Asrorudin (2014) investigated

the effect of eye diseases and visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in a population with severe visual impairment and blindness in Indonesia. However, no studies have compared vision-related quality of life between people with normal vision and people with different levels of visual impairment. The comparison between subjects with varying visual function will help elucidate the impact of visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia.

Objective

Unlike previous studies conducted in Indonesia, this study aimed to compare the quality of life of people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness.

METHOD

Study Sample

For this cross-sectional study, adults aged 18 years and older were recruited using purposive sampling. The respondents were classified into 4 groups: Group 1 - people with normal vision, Group 2 - people with corrected visual impairment, Group 3 – people with visual impairment that remained uncorrected although using visual aids, and Group 4 – people who were legally blind. Respondents in Group 2 had either mild or moderate visual impairment, while those in Group 3 had moderate to severe visual impairment.

Those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers, while participants with visual impairment were recruited from the eye clinic of Bethesda Hospital in Yogyakarta. The respondents with blindness were clients of Badan Sosial Mardi Wuto, a social organisation for people with low vision or blindness.

WHO defines normal vision as visual acuity of 6/6, and blindness as visual acuity worse than 3/60 in the better eye with best correction (WHO, 2019). Visual acuity of respondents with visual impairment was examined by an ophthalmologist, and people with normal vision and blindness were examined by a trained research assistant. People with corrected visual impairment could reach 6/6 visual acuity with

visual aids. People with uncorrected visual impairment had visual acuity below 6/6 despite the use of visual aids.

Data Collection

Vision-related quality of life was assessed using National Eye Institute – Vision Function Questionnaire – 25 (NEI VFQ-25). This questionnaire has been used to measure vision-related quality of life among Asian people as well (Suzukamo et al, 2005; Gyawali et al, 2012; Cortina and Hallak, 2015; Saboo et al, 2017; Nickels et al, 2017). NEI VFQ-25 has 12 subscales. The total score is the sum of the 12 subscales scores. The respondents with blindness did not drive, so all of them scored '0' in the driving subscale. Multivariate ANOVA was conducted to test the differences of the NEI-VFQ total and 11 subscale (excluding driving) scores among the four groups with age and sex as covariates. Post- hoc analyses using Dunnett C were conducted to find differences between respondent groups.

Ethics Approval

Ethical clearance was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana. Detailed explanations were given to the participants to obtain their written informed consent. They were assured that the data would be kept confidential and anonymity would be maintained.

RESULTS

Data was collected from 162 respondents: 41 people with normal vision (Group 1), 41 people with corrected visual impairment (Group 2), 40 people with uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3), and 40 people with blindness (Group 4). There were 28 females and 13 males in Group 1, 25 females and 16 males in Group 2, 19 females and 21 males in Group 3, and 26 females and 14 males in Group 4. The mean and standard deviations of age were: 33.59 ± 7.194 years in Group 1; 52.85 ± 14.307 years in Group 2; 60.98 ± 15.58 years in Group 3; and 46.83 ± 12.09 years in Group 4.

The most common cause of visual impairment in Group 2 was cataract (61%), followed by refractive disorders (24%) and glaucoma (7%). Cataract was also the most common cause of visual impairment in Group 3 (65%), followed by glaucoma (15%), diabetic retinopathy (12.5%) and age-related macular

degeneration (2.5%). Meanwhile, among respondents with blindness, measles (87.5%) was the most common cause of blindness since childhood, followed by congenital cataracts (7.5%) and glaucoma and retinal detachment (2.5% each) respectively. The majority of respondents in Group 2 (85%) and Group 3 (65%) had visual impairment for less than 5 years, while respondents in Group 4 had been blind for more than 10 years (100%).

Most respondents had high school education in Group 1 (47.5%) and Group 3 (62.5%). In Group 2, 52.5% had college education, while respondents with blindness had the lowest level of education, as 27.5% had never been to school and 50% had elementary school education.

The majority of respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were working people (75% and 57.5%, respectively). Half of the study participants in Group 3 worked, and most of those who did not work were pensioners. Almost all of the respondents with blindness (97.5%) worked as masseurs. In Indonesia, the department of social affairs provides free masseur training programmes for people with blindness.

The vision-related quality of life of respondents with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, the results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses are presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Vision-related Quality of Life of People with Normal Vision (Group 1), Corrected Visual Impairment (Group 2), Uncorrected Visual Impairment (Group 3) and Blindness (Group 4), the Results of Multivariate ANOVA and Post-hoc Analyses of the 4 Groups

Vision-related Quality of Life	Group 1 (G1)	Group 2 (G2)	Group 3 (G3)	Group 4 (G4)	Multivariate ANOVA		Post-hoc Analyses
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	F	p	
Total	946.84 ± 47.240	946.84 ± 47.240	781.29 ± 128.690	418.90 ± 89.468	282.469	<0.001	G1>G2** G1>G3***

Commented [VR2]: We added the word 'each' here. Author to clarify if this is fine

Commented [mw3R2]: Yes correct

							G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
General health	59.76 ± 15.690	55.610 ± 13.332	40.000 ± 21.780	44.375 ± 18.334	7,391	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4**
General vision	81.95 ± 6.008	77.561 ± 6.626	58.500 ± 12.310	15.000 ± 19.612	243,605	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Ocular pain	90.55 ± 14.344	82.317 ± 17.280	83.438 ± 21.067	75.300 ± 22.562	4,197	0,007	G1>G4***
Near vision activities	99.02 ± 2.650	96.37 ± 6.495	64.782 ± 20.283	39.574 ± 11.757	204,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Distance vision activities	98.63 ± 3.048	98.80 ± 3.487	69.995 ± 22.713	28.936 ± 8.427	285,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***

Social functioning	93.54 ± 8.571	88.83 ± 12.221	90.625 ± 12.894	55.000 ± 14.925	88,360	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Mental health	98.00 ± 5.996	86.37 ± 18.208	65.625 ± 14.572	67.506 ± 15.453	31,393	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Dependency	97.95 ± 5.882	86.66 ± 15.106	64.787 ± 16.616	57.275 ± 17.314	56,033	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Role difficulties	89.98 ± 22.469	79.80 ± 31.610	68.750 ± 24.677	56.563 ± 19.812	10,615	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Colour vision	99.39 ± 3.904	97.56 ± 15.617	98.750 ± 7.906	18.750 ± 30.356	208,119	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Peripheral vision	99.39 ± 3.904	96.95 ± 16.003	85.000 ± 24.547	5.000 ± 14.097	330,665	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***

** p<0.01

*** p<0.001

Multivariate ANOVA that included age and sex as covariates, revealed a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total scores among the four groups of respondents. Group 1 had the highest mean total vision-related quality of life score and Group 4 had the lowest. Post-hoc analyses revealed there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 respondents, but Group 1 and Group 2 respondents had significantly higher scores than those in Group 3 and Group 4. The total vision-related quality of life score of Group 3 respondents was significantly higher than that of respondents in Group 4.

The mean vision-related quality of life scores of 11 subscales for the four groups of respondents varied, although the mean scores of almost all subscale scores in Group 1 tended to be the highest, and those of Group 4 were likely to be the lowest.

In the general health subscale, post-hoc analysis showed that respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher general health scores than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were reasonably healthy, as the percentage with self-reported chronic diseases was below 20%. Almost half of the respondents in Group 3 (47.5%) and 35% of those in Group 4 reported having a chronic health condition.

In the general vision subscale, there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2. The correction of Group 2 respondents' vision had a positive impact on the vision-related quality of life general vision subscale. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher scores than respondents of Group 3 and Group 4. Failure to make visual correction, leading to uncorrected visual impairment or even blindness, resulted in lower vision-related quality of life general vision subscale.

The results of near vision activities and distance vision activities subscales showed that visual correction improved people's ability to conduct near vision activities like reading a book, cooking, sewing or fixing things at home, as well as distance vision activities such as reading street signs, watching movies, and going up and down stairs at night.

In the social functioning subscale, the respondents in Groups 1, 2 and 3 had significantly higher scores than those in Group 4. Despite their visual limitations, Group 2 and Group 3 respondents were able to

understand other people's reactions during conversation or behave as expected when they were visiting people or attending a party. People with blindness had more difficulties in fulfilling their social function which affected their vision-related quality of life.

In the mental health subscale, Group 1 had a significantly higher score than the other three Groups. Group 2 respondents worried about their vision, felt some frustration, had less control over what they did, and worried about being embarrassed due to their visual impairment. Group 3 and Group 4 individuals had bigger problems compared to Group 2 respondents, leading to lower vision-related quality of life.

Post-hoc analysis showed that respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher vision-related quality of life role difficulties subscale than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 3 and Group 4 thought that they could not complete tasks on time and their performance was lower because of their visual problem. Group 2 individuals did not think that their visual impairment affected their performance.

In the dependency subscale, Group 1 had a significantly higher score than the other Groups. Respondents in Group 2 felt some dependency on what other people said, and needed help from other people because of their visual problems. Individuals in Group 3 and Group 4 had more difficulties than those in Group 2. Group 4 respondents even felt they were forced to stay at home most of the time because of their blindness.

Group 1 and Group 2 individuals had significantly higher peripheral vision subscales than those in Group 3 and Group 4. People in Group 2 did not think that they had significant difficulties in seeing things on the sides, while those in Group 3 and Group 4 did.

There was no significant difference among respondents in Groups 1, 2 and 3 in the colour vision subscale. The three groups had significantly higher scores than those in Group 4. Individuals in Group 2 and Group 3 did not have a significant problem in matching clothes, but those in Group 4 had a lot of problems in performing this task.

DISCUSSION

People with normal vision had the highest total NEI VFQ-25 score and those with blindness had the lowest, indicating that vision-related quality of life decreases with the worsening of visual acuity. This is in accordance with other studies conducted in other countries (Fleming et al, 2019; Tharaldsen et al, 2020; Yibekal et al, 2020).

Based on the NEI VFQ-25 subscale analysis, general health was found to be higher in respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment than among those with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. This result suggests that visual acuity may be an indicator of general health. Vision impairment has been associated with chronic conditions in older adults (Court et al, 2014; Crews et al, 2017). People with visual impairment are more likely to have health problems compared to individuals with normal vision. Other researchers found cataract as a predictor of mortality in people aged over 50 years (Zhu et al, 2016; Zhu et al, 2019). A recent review reported poor vision as a risk factor of falls in older adults that may lead to fatality (Joseph et al, 2019).

Subscales of general vision, near vision activities, distance vision activities and peripheral vision showed a significant difference, where respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment had higher levels of functioning than individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness. Visual correction may improve vision-related quality of life, while more severe visual impairment may have a more adverse effect on vision-related quality of life. This finding is consistent with other studies showing that best-corrected visual acuity can have positive impact on vision-related quality of life (Råen et al, 2019).

There was no significant difference in the ocular pain subscale among respondents with corrected vision, uncorrected vision and blindness. Ocular pain is commonly associated with ocular surface disease found in most people with glaucoma. The number of respondents with glaucoma in this study was low, and this might explain the result (Baudouin et al, 2013; Tirpack et al, 2019).

This study suggests that visual acuity does not affect social functioning until someone becomes blind. This finding is similar to studies that reported no significant difference in social function between people with normal vision and those with visual impairment (Dev et al, 2014; Heine et al, 2019). Respondents with visual impairment could still carry out their social functions despite obstacles in

doing so. Respondents with blindness had many difficulties in carrying out their social functions, and experienced social isolation. Although most of the study participants with blindness worked as masseurs, they waited for clients to visit them because they had problems in moving around the city due to their visual condition.

This study indicates that vision affects mental health. A study on older people has associated self-reported visual impairment with depression (Frank et al, 2019). Vision problems have been associated with worse psychosocial outcomes. Visual impairment causes problems in doing everyday activities, i.e., reading newspapers, recognising people. People with these problems have been reported to have lower life satisfaction, increased depressive symptoms and decreased positive affect (Hajek et al, 2020).

Dependency was different among all four groups; it increased with decreasing visual acuity. This study shows that uncorrected visual impairment can lead to role difficulties, which is consistent with other researchers' findings that greater visual impairment affects psychosocial parameters, including role difficulty (Zhu et al, 2015). Visual impairment forces the individual to take longer over completing tasks, leading to lower performance.

Despite their corrected vision, respondents in Group 2 had lower quality of life in the dependency subscale than those with normal vision. More than half of the participants in Group 2 wore glasses to correct their visual impairment. Glasses help people perform many activities, but those who wear them complain about the inconvenience of having frequent eye check-ups and getting replacements to keep good vision (Kandel et al, 2017). Without glasses, they need help from others to accomplish tasks. Visual impairment decreases one's independence in doing activities of daily living, and increases dependence on other people. Individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness have more dependency on others in their daily lives.

This study suggests that neither corrected nor uncorrected visual impairment creates a significant problem in colour vision, but blindness does. This finding is consistent with other researchers who reported a similar result (Zhu et al, 2015).

Limitations

This study assessed vision-related quality of life based on the levels of vision, and did not analyse by specific diagnosis.

Comparison between the Groups may have been hampered by the differing sources of research participants. Participants in Groups 1 and 4 were recruited from the community, while participants in Groups 2 and 3 were clients from a hospital eye clinic.

CONCLUSION

It can be concluded that there are significant differences in vision-related quality of life related to people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's vision-related quality of life. However, it has differential impacts on different elements of vision-related quality of life. There are no significant differences between people with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in most subscales, suggesting that visual correction can improve vision-related quality of life, and thereby highlighting the importance of visual acuity correction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank all those who participated in this research.

No financial support was received for this research.

The researchers report no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

Asrorudin M (2014). The impact of visual impairment and eye diseases on the vision related quality of life in a population with severe visually impairment and blindness (Dampak Gangguan Penglihatan dan Penyakit Mata Terhadap Kualitas Hidup terkait Penglihatan Pada Populasi Gangguan Penglihatan Berat dan Buta). Masters Thesis, University of Indonesia, Jakarta.

Commented [VR4]: All references have to be reformatted as per our journal guidelines. See the referencing guide and remove all italics.

Use sentence case for titles and remove single quotes

After journal name use semi colon, then put issue and volume no. then colon. Remove pp.

Pls. see past issues on our website

Baudouin C , Renard J-P, Nordmann J-P, Denis P, Lachkar Y, Sellem E, Rouland J-F, Jeanbat V, Bouee S (2013). Prevalence and risk factors for ocular surface disease among patients treated over the long term for glaucoma or ocular hypertension. *European Journal of Ophthalmology*; 23: 47–54.

Christ SL, Zheng DD, Swenor BK, Lam BL, West SK, Tannenbaum SL, Munoz BE, Lee DJ (2014). Longitudinal relationships among visual acuity, daily functional status, and mortality: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation Study. *JAMA Ophthalmology*; 132(12): 1400–1406

Cortina MS, Hallak JA (2015). Vision-related quality-of-life assessment using NEI VFQ-25 in patients after Boston keratoprosthesis implantation. *Cornea*; 34(2): 160–164

Court H, McLean G, Guthrie B, Mercer SW, Smith DJ (2014). Visual impairment is associated with physical and mental comorbidities in older adults: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Medicine*; 12(181)

Crews JE, Chou CF, Sekar S, Saaddine JB (2017). The prevalence of chronic conditions and poor health among people with and without vision impairment, aged ≥ 65 years, 2010-2014. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*; 182: 18–30

Dev MK, Paudel N, Joshi ND, Shah DN, Subba S (2014). Psycho-social impact of visual impairment on health-related quality of life among nursing home residents. *BMC Health Services Research*; 14: 1–7.

Fleming N, Farrokhvar F, Sabri K (2019). Assessment of the visual function of partially sighted and blind Canadian youth using the VFQ-25 questionnaire: a preliminary study. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology/Journal canadien d'ophtalmologie*; 54(6): 674–677

Frank CR, Xiang X, Stagg BC, Ehrlich JR (2019). Longitudinal associations of self-reported vision

impairment with symptoms of anxiety and depression among older adults in the United States. *JAMA Op*; 137(7): 793–800

Gyawali R, Paudel N, Adhikari P (2012). Quality of life in Nepalese patients with low vision and the impact of low vision services. *Journal of Optometry*; 5: 188–195

Hajek A, Wolfram C, Martin Spitzer M, König H-H (2020). Association of vision problems with psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older individuals: findings from a nationally representative study. *Aging & Mental Health*; 13: 1–8

Heine C, Browning CJ, Gong CH (2019). Sensory loss in China : prevalence , use of aids , and impacts on social participation. *Frontiers in Public Health*; 7(5): 1–14

Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation - IHME (2017). Global burden of diseases data visualization. Available at: <https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/>.

Joseph A, Kumar D, Bagavandas M (2019). A review of epidemiology of fall among elderly in India. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*; 44(2): 166–168.

Kandel H, Khadka J, Shrestha MK, Sharma S, Kandel SN, Dhungana P, Pradhan K, Nepal BP, Thapa S, Pesudovs K (2017). Uncorrected and corrected refractive error experiences of Nepalese adults : a qualitative study. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*; 25(2): 147–161

Kim YS, Yi MY, Hong YJ, Park KH (2017). The impact of visual symptoms on the quality of life of patients with early to moderate glaucoma. *International Ophthalmology*; 38(4): 1531–1539

Mahayana IT, Indrawati SG, Pawiroranu S (2017). The prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in

urban, suburban, exurban and rural primary school children in Indonesian population. *International Journal of Ophthalmology*; 10(11): 1771–1776

Medeiros FA, Gracitelli CPB, Boer ER, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM, Rosen PN (2014). Longitudinal changes in quality of life and rates of progressive visual field loss in glaucoma patients. *Ophthalmology*; 122(2): 293–301.

Ministry of Health, Republic of Indonesia (2013). *Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2013*.

Muhit

M, Karim T, Islam J, Hardianto D, Muhiddin HS, Purwanta SA, Suhardjo S, Widyandana D, Khandaker G(2018). The epidemiology of childhood blindness and severe visual impairment in Indonesia. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*; 102(11): 1543–1549

Nickels S, Schuster AK, Singer S, Wild PS, Laubert-Reh D, Schulz A, Finger RP, Michal M, Beutel ME, Münzel T, Lackner KJ, Pfeiffer N(2017). The National Eye Institute 25-Item Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25) - reference data from the German population-based Gutenberg Health Study (GHS). *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*; 15(1): 1–10

Pardhan S, Latham K, Tabrett D, Timmis MA (2015). Objective analysis of performance of activities of daily living in people with central field loss. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*; 56(12): 169–178

Råen M, Kristianslund O, Østern AE, Sandvik GF, Drolsum L (2019). Are elderly patients optimally corrected with spectacles in the longer term after cataract surgery? *Optometry and Vision Science*;

96(5): 362–366

Saboo US, Amparo F, Abud TB, Schaumberg DA, Dana R (2017). Vision-related quality of life in patients with ocular graft-versus-host disease. *Physiology & Behavior*; 176(12): 139–148

Sasongko

MB, Widyaputri F, Agni AN, Wardhana FS, Kotha S, Gupta P, Widayanti TW, Haryanto S, Widyaningrum R, Wong TY, Kawasaki R, Wang JJ (2017). Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy and blindness in Indonesian adults with type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*; 181: 79–87

Suzukamo Y, Oshika T, Yuzawa M, Tokuda Y, Tomidokoro A, Oki K, Mangione CM, Green J, Fukuhara S (2005). Psychometric properties of the 25-item National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25), Japanese version. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*; 3(65): 1–11.

Tharaldsen AR, Sand KM, Dalen I, Wilhelmsen G, Naess H, Midelfart A, Rødahl E, Thomassen L, Hoff JM, NOR-OCCIP Research Group (2020). Vision related quality of life in patients with occipital stroke. *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*; 141

Tirpack AR, Vanner E, Parrish JM, Galor A, Hua H-U, Wellik SR (2019). Dry Eye Symptoms and Ocular Pain in Veterans with Glaucoma. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*; 8(7)

World Health Organisation (2019). World report on vision, *World Health Organization*.

Yibekal BT, Alemu DS, Anbesse DH, Alemayehu AM, Alimaw YA (2020). Vision-related quality of life among adult patients with visual impairment at University of Gondar, Northwest Ethiopia. *Journal of Ophthalmology*; 11: 1–7

Zhu M, Yu J, Zhang J, Yan Q, Liu Y (2015). Evaluating vision-related quality of life in preoperative age-related cataract patients and analyzing its influencing factors in China: A cross-sectional study. *Cataract and refractive surgery. BMC Ophthalmology*; 15(1): 1–7

Zhu Z, Wang L, Young CA, Huang S, Chang BHW, He M (2016). Cataract-related visual impairment corrected by cataract surgery and 10-year mortality: The Liwan Eye Study. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*; 57: 2290–2295

Zhu Z, Wang L, Scheetz J, He M (2019). Age-related cataract and 10-year mortality: the Liwan Eye Study. *Acta Ophthalmologica*; 98(3):e328-e332

Commented [VR5]: Remove all dois – we will add them later

- Mail (28)
- Inbox 28
- Starred
- Snoozed
- Sent
- Drafts
- Categories
- Social
- Updates 29
- Forums 19
- Promotions 4
- More
- Labels
- FK 55
 - PSLG 1
 - JabFung 4
 - Penelitian dan Pk... 9
 - Pribadi
 - Siska
- UKDW 19
- YAKKUM 4
- More

Search: vardini | Active | Settings | Profile: UNIVERSITAS KRISTEN DUTA WACANA

3 of 3 | Navigation icons: back, forward, search, etc.

Maria Widagdo <maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id> to Editor-in-Chief
Dec 21, 2020, 6:30 PM

Dear Ms. **Vardin**,
Thank you for your email.
I have circulated the file to my co-authors and they agreed with the copyedited file.
I gave my consent for publication.
Is this enough or is there any form that I have to sign?
Thank you.
maria widagdo



Editor-in-Chief <editor.dcid@gmail.com> to me
Dec 21, 2020, 8:35 PM

The email is enough

Maria Widagdo <maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id> to Editor-in-Chief
Dec 22, 2020, 9:31 AM

Thank you.
maria widagdo



- 28 Mail
- Compose
- Inbox 28
- Starred
- Snoozed
- Sent
- Drafts
- Categories
 - Social
 - Updates 29
 - Forums 19
 - Promotions 4
 - More
- Labels
 - FK 55
 - PSLG 1
 - JabFung 4
 - Penelitian dan Pk... 9
 - Pribadi
 - Siska
 - UKDW 19
 - YAKKUM 4
 - More

vardini

3 of 3

Feb 11, 2021, 10:04 AM

Editor-in-Chief <editor.dcid@gmail.com>
to me

Dear Maria

Attached is the final formatted pdf of your article that will be published this month. You need to review it thoroughly and let us know if any changes are required by **13 Feb 2021**.

Pls. note: In case we don't hear back, by 13 Feb, we will assume that no changes are required and go ahead with the publication, and won't be able to entertain any requests for changes thereafter.

Regards
Vardini

One attachment • Scanned by Gmail

The Maria MeiwatiWidagdo.pdf
751 KB

Feb 11, 2021, 4:29 PM

Maria Widagdo <maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id>
to Editor-in-Chief

Dear Dr. **Vardini**,

Thank you for sending me the formatted pdf of my article to be published. I noticed that my family name is not printed correctly: there is no space between my middle name and my family name. It was printed MeiwatiWidagdo, while it should be Meiwati Widagdo Could you please kindly correct this?

I have given a quick read of the manuscript, and did not find any mistakes. I will contact you again if I find something that needs to be changed.

Thank you.
maria widagdo

UNIVERSITAS KRISTEN DUTA WACANA
PERINGKAT AKREDITASI INSTITUSI PEGURUBAN TINGGI (AIP)

Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Vision-Related Quality of Life: Comparing People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia

The Maria MeiwatiWidagdo^{1*}, Yunita Rappun¹, Aprilia Vetricia Gandrung¹,
Edy Wibowo²

1. Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia

2. Department of Ophthalmology, Bethesda Hospital, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Purpose: *This study assessed the extent to which visual impairment impacts on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia, by comparing four groups of people: those with 1) normal vision, 2) corrected visual impairment, 3) uncorrected visual impairment, and 4) blindness.*

Method: *Purposive sampling was used. There were 162 respondents, between 21 and 86 years of age. Participants with normal vision and blindness were community-dwellers in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Those with corrected and uncorrected visual impairment were recruited from an eye clinic. This cross-sectional study used NEI VFQ-25 to assess vision-related quality of life. The total scores and 11 NEI VFQ-25 subscales scores of four respondent groups were analysed using ANOVA, followed by post-hoc analyses to reveal between group differences.*

Results: *There was a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total scores among the four respondent groups. Respondents with normal vision had the highest score and those with blindness had the lowest. There were also significant differences among the four groups for the 11 subscales. Post-hoc analyses revealed no significant difference between respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in the total and 9 NEI VFQ-25 subscales. Respondents with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness had significantly lower vision-related quality of life compared to those with normal vision or corrected visual impairment in the total and 5 NEI VFQ-25 subscales, indicating that visual impairment decreases vision-related quality of life.*

* **Corresponding Author:** The Maria Meiwati Widagdo, Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia. Email address: maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id

Conclusion: *Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's vision-related quality of life. The negative impact of visual impairment can be minimised by correction. Failure to correct visual impairment leads to significantly lower vision-related quality of life.*

Key words: *quality of life, visual acuity, blindness, visual correction, Indonesia*

INTRODUCTION

The Global Burden of Diseases project, conducted in 2017, reported that blindness and visual impairment caused 1.19% of DALYs globally (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation - IHME, 2017). The World Health Organisation's World Report on Vision, released in 2019, estimated that the number of people with visual impairments worldwide was 2.2 billion (WHO, 2019). The Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia reported that the population with severe visual impairment was more than 2 million people and the number of people with blindness was more than 900,000 (Ministry of Health, 2013).

People with visual impairments experience limitations in carrying out various activities in their lives. They need more time to complete tasks like eating and drinking as they have difficulty in identifying food on a plate or pouring liquid into a glass because of their visual impairment (Pardhan et al, 2015). Independence in conducting activities of daily living decreases as the visual impairment worsens (Christ et al, 2014). Reduced visual acuity, decreased visual field and blurred vision have been associated with lower quality of life (Medeiros et al, 2014; Kim et al, 2017).

There are several studies on the prevalence of visual impairment in Indonesia. Mahayana et al (2017) studied primary school children in 3 districts in Yogyakarta Province and 1 district nearby to find the prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural children. Sasongko et al (2017) reported the prevalence of diabetic-related blindness of people residing in Yogyakarta. Muhit et al (2018) examined 195 children aged 0-15 years in Sumba and Yogyakarta to study the epidemiology of childhood blindness.

Although much is known about the number of people with visual impairment, Indonesia still lacks studies on how visual impairment affects vision-related quality of life. Asrorudin (2014) investigated the effect of eye diseases and visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in a population with severe visual impairment and blindness in Indonesia. However, no studies have compared

vision-related quality of life between people with normal vision and people with different levels of visual impairment. The comparison between subjects with varying visual function will help elucidate the impact of visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia.

Objective

Unlike previous studies conducted in Indonesia, this study aimed to compare the quality of life of people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness.

METHOD

Study Sample

For this cross-sectional study, adults aged 18 years and older were recruited using purposive sampling.

The respondents were classified into 4 groups: Group 1 - people with normal vision, Group 2 - people with corrected visual impairment, Group 3 – people with visual impairment that remained uncorrected although using visual aids, and Group 4 – people who were legally blind. Respondents in Group 2 had either mild or moderate visual impairment, while those in Group 3 had moderate to severe visual impairment.

Those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers, while participants with visual impairment were recruited from the eye clinic of Bethesda Hospital in Yogyakarta. The respondents with blindness were clients of Badan Sosial Mardi Wuto, a social organisation for people with low vision or blindness.

WHO defines normal vision as visual acuity of 6/6, and blindness as visual acuity worse than 3/60 in the better eye with best correction (WHO, 2019). Visual acuity of respondents with visual impairment was examined by an ophthalmologist, and people with normal vision and blindness were examined by a trained research assistant. People with corrected visual impairment could reach 6/6 visual acuity with visual aids. People with uncorrected visual impairment had visual acuity below 6/6 despite the use of visual aids.

Data Collection

Vision-related quality of life was assessed using National Eye Institute – Vision Function Questionnaire – 25 (NEI VFQ-25). This questionnaire has been used to measure vision-related quality of life among Asian people as well (Suzukamo et al, 2005; Gyawali et al, 2012; Cortina and Hallak, 2015; Saboo et al, 2017; Nickels et al, 2017). NEI VFQ-25 has 12 subscales. The total score is the sum of the 12 subscales scores. The respondents with blindness did not drive, so all of them scored '0' in the driving subscale. Multivariate ANOVA was conducted to test the differences of the NEI-VFQ total and 11 subscale (excluding driving) scores among the four groups with age and sex as covariates. Post- hoc analyses using Dunnett C were conducted to find differences between respondent groups.

Ethics Approval

Ethical clearance was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana. Detailed explanations were given to the participants to obtain their written informed consent. They were assured that the data would be kept confidential and anonymity would be maintained.

RESULTS

Data was collected from 162 respondents: 41 people with normal vision (Group 1), 41 people with corrected visual impairment (Group 2), 40 people with uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3), and 40 people with blindness (Group 4). There were 28 females and 13 males in Group 1, 25 females and 16 males in Group 2, 19 females and 21 males in Group 3, and 26 females and 14 males in Group 4. The mean and standard deviations of age were: 33.59 ± 7.194 years in Group 1; 52.85 ± 14.307 years in Group 2; 60.98 ± 15.58 years in Group 3; and 46.83 ± 12.09 years in Group 4.

The most common cause of visual impairment in Group 2 was cataract (61%), followed by refractive disorders (24%) and glaucoma (7%). Cataract was also the most common cause of visual impairment in Group 3 (65%), followed by glaucoma (15%), diabetic retinopathy (12.5%) and age-related macular degeneration (2.5%). Meanwhile, among respondents with blindness, measles (87.5%) was the most common cause of blindness since childhood, followed by congenital cataracts (7.5%) and glaucoma and retinal detachment (2.5% each) respectively. The majority of respondents in Group 2 (85%) and Group 3 (65%) had visual impairment for less than 5 years, while respondents in Group 4 had been blind for more than 10 years (100%).

Most respondents had high school education in Group 1 (47.5%) and Group 3 (62.5%). In Group 2, 52.5% had college education, while respondents with blindness had the lowest level of education, as 27.5% had never been to school and 50% had elementary school education.

The majority of respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were working people (75% and 57.5%, respectively). Half of the study participants in Group 3 worked, and most of those who did not work were pensioners. Almost all of the respondents with blindness (97.5%) worked as masseurs. In Indonesia, the department of social affairs provides free masseur training programmes for people with blindness.

The vision-related quality of life of respondents with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, the results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses are presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Vision-related Quality of Life of People with Normal Vision (Group 1), Corrected Visual Impairment (Group 2), Uncorrected Visual Impairment (Group 3) and Blindness (Group 4), the Results of Multivariate ANOVA and Post-hoc Analyses of the 4 Groups

Vision-related Quality of Life	Group 1 (G1)	Group 2 (G2)	Group 3 (G3)	Group 4 (G4)	Multivariate ANOVA		Post-hoc Analyses
	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	F	p	
Total	946.84 ± 47.240	946.84 ± 47.240	781.29 ± 128.690	418.90 ± 89.468	282.469	<0.001	G1>G2** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
General health	59.76 ± 15.690	55.610 ± 13.332	40.000 ± 21.780	44.375 ± 18.334	7,391	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4**
General vision	81.95 ± 6.008	77.561 ± 6.626	58.500 ± 12.310	15.000 ± 19.612	243,605	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***

Ocular pain	90.55 ± 14.344	82.317 ± 17.280	83.438 ± 21.067	75.300 ± 22.562	4,197	0,007	G1>G4***
Near vision activities	99.02 ± 2.650	96.37 ± 6.495	64.782 ± 20.283	39.574 ± 11.757	204,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Distance vision activities	98.63 ± 3.048	98.80 ± 3.487	69.995 ± 22.713	28.936 ± 8.427	285,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Social functioning	93.54 ± 8.571	88.83 ± 12.221	90.625 ± 12.894	55.000 ± 14.925	88,360	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Mental health	98.00 ± 5.996	86.37 ± 18.208	65.625 ± 14.572	67.506 ± 15.453	31,393	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Dependency	97.95 ± 5.882	86.66 ± 15.106	64.787 ± 16.616	57.275 ± 17.314	56,033	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Role difficulties	89.98 ± 22.469	79.80 ± 31.610	68.750 ± 24.677	56.563 ± 19.812	10,615	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Colour vision	99.39 ± 3.904	97.56 ± 15.617	98.750 ± 7.906	18.750 ± 30.356	208,119	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Peripheral vision	99.39 ± 3.904	96.95 ± 16.003	85.000 ± 24.547	5.000 ± 14.097	330,665	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***

** p<0.01

*** p<0.001

Multivariate ANOVA that included age and sex as covariates, revealed a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total scores among the four groups of respondents. Group 1 had the highest mean total vision-related quality of life score and Group 4 had the lowest. Post-hoc analyses revealed there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 respondents, but Group 1 and Group 2 respondents had significantly higher scores than those in Group 3 and Group 4. The total vision-related quality of life score of Group 3 respondents was significantly higher than that of respondents in Group 4.

The mean vision-related quality of life scores of 11 subscales for the four groups of respondents varied, although the mean scores of almost all subscale scores in Group 1 tended to be the highest, and those of Group 4 were likely to be the lowest.

In the general health subscale, post-hoc analysis showed that respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher general health scores than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were reasonably healthy, as the percentage with self-reported chronic diseases was below 20%. Almost half of the respondents in Group 3 (47.5%) and 35% of those in Group 4 reported having a chronic health condition.

In the general vision subscale, there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2. The correction of Group 2 respondents' vision had a positive impact on the vision-related quality of life general vision subscale. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher scores than respondents of Group 3 and Group 4. Failure to make visual correction, leading to uncorrected visual impairment or even blindness, resulted in lower vision-related quality of life general vision subscale.

The results of near vision activities and distance vision activities subscales showed that visual correction improved people's ability to conduct near vision activities like reading a book, cooking, sewing or fixing things at home, as well as distance vision activities such as reading street signs, watching movies, and going up and down stairs at night.

In the social functioning subscale, the respondents in Groups 1, 2 and 3 had significantly higher scores than those in Group 4. Despite their visual limitations, Group 2 and Group 3 respondents were able to understand other people's reactions during conversation or behave as expected when they were visiting people or attending a party. People with blindness had more difficulties in fulfilling their social function which affected their vision-related quality of life.

In the mental health subscale, Group 1 had a significantly higher score than the other three Groups. Group 2 respondents worried about their vision, felt some frustration, had less control over what they did, and worried about being embarrassed due to their visual impairment. Group 3 and Group 4 individuals had bigger problems compared to Group 2 respondents, leading to lower vision-related quality of life.

Post- hoc analysis showed that respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher vision-related quality of life role difficulties subscale than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 3 and Group 4 thought that they could not complete tasks on time and their performance was lower because of their visual problem. Group 2 individuals did not think that their visual impairment affected their performance.

In the dependency subscale, Group 1 had a significantly higher score than the other Groups. Respondents in Group 2 felt some dependency on what other people said, and needed help from other people because of their visual problems. Individuals in Group 3 and Group 4 had more difficulties than those in Group 2. Group 4 respondents even felt they were forced to stay at home most of the time because of their blindness.

Group 1 and Group 2 individuals had significantly higher peripheral vision subscales than those in Group 3 and Group 4. People in Group 2 did not think that they had significant difficulties in seeing things on the sides, while those in Group 3 and Group 4 did.

There was no significant difference among respondents in Groups 1, 2 and 3 in the colour vision subscale. The three groups had significantly higher scores than those in Group 4. Individuals in Group 2 and Group 3 did not have a significant problem in matching clothes, but those in Group 4 had a lot of problems in performing this task.

DISCUSSION

People with normal vision had the highest total NEI VFQ-25 score and those with blindness had the lowest, indicating that vision-related quality of life decreases with the worsening of visual acuity. This is in accordance with other studies conducted in other countries (Fleming et al, 2019; Tharaldsen et al, 2020; Yibekal et al, 2020).

Based on the NEI VFQ-25 subscale analysis, general health was found to be higher in respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment than among those with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. This result suggests that visual acuity may be an indicator of general health. Vision impairment has been associated with chronic conditions in older adults (Court et al, 2014; Crews et al, 2017). People with visual impairment are more likely to have health problems compared to individuals with normal vision. Other researchers found cataract as a predictor of mortality in people aged over 50 years (Zhu et al, 2016; Zhu et al, 2019). A recent review reported poor vision as a risk factor of falls in older adults that may lead to fatality (Joseph et al, 2019).

Subscales of general vision, near vision activities, distance vision activities and peripheral vision showed a significant difference, where respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment had higher levels of functioning than individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness. Visual correction may improve vision-related quality of life, while more severe visual impairment may have a more adverse effect on vision-related quality of life. This finding is consistent with other studies showing that best-corrected visual acuity can have positive impact on vision-related quality of life (Råen et al, 2019).

There was no significant difference in the ocular pain subscale among respondents with corrected vision, uncorrected vision and blindness. Ocular pain is commonly associated with ocular surface disease found in most people with glaucoma. The number of respondents with glaucoma in this study was low, and this might explain the result (Baudouin et al, 2013; Tirpack et al, 2019).

This study suggests that visual acuity does not affect social functioning until someone becomes blind. This finding is similar to studies that reported no significant difference in social function between people with normal vision and those with visual impairment (Dev et al, 2014; Heine et al, 2019). Respondents with visual impairment could still carry out their social functions despite obstacles in doing so. Respondents with blindness had many difficulties in carrying out their social functions, and experienced social isolation. Although most of the study participants with blindness worked as masseurs, they waited for clients to visit them because they had problems in moving around the city due to their visual condition.

This study indicates that vision affects mental health. A study on older people has associated self-reported visual impairment with depression (Frank et al,

2019). Vision problems have been associated with worse psychosocial outcomes. Visual impairment causes problems in doing everyday activities, i.e., reading newspapers, recognising people. People with these problems have been reported to have lower life satisfaction, increased depressive symptoms and decreased positive affect(Hajek et al, 2020).

Dependency was different among all four groups; it increased with decreasing visual acuity. This study shows that uncorrected visual impairment can lead to role difficulties, which is consistent with other researchers' findings that greater visual impairment affects psychosocial parameters, including role difficulty(Zhu et al, 2015). Visual impairment forces the individual to take longer over completing tasks, leading to lower performance.

Despite their corrected vision, respondents in Group 2 had lower quality of life in the dependency subscale than those with normal vision. More than half of the participants in Group 2 wore glasses to correct their visual impairment. Glasses help people perform many activities, but those who wear them complain about the inconvenience of having frequent eye check-ups and getting replacements to keep good vision(Kandel et al, 2017). Without glasses, they need help from others to accomplish tasks. Visual impairment decreases one's independence in doing activities of daily living, and increases dependence on other people. Individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness have more dependency on others in their daily lives.

This study suggests that neither corrected nor uncorrected visual impairment creates a significant problem in colour vision, but blindness does. This finding is consistent with other researchers who reported a similar result(Zhu et al, 2015).

Limitations

This study assessed vision-related quality of life based on the levels of vision, and did not analyse by specific diagnosis.

Comparison between the Groups may have been hampered by the differing sources of research participants. Participants in Groups 1 and 4 were recruited from the community, while participants in Groups 2 and 3 were clients from a hospital eye clinic.

CONCLUSION

It can be concluded that there are significant differences in vision-related quality of life related to people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's vision-related quality of life. However, it has differential impacts on different elements of vision-related quality of life. There are no significant differences between people with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in most subscales, suggesting that visual correction can improve vision-related quality of life, and thereby highlighting the importance of visual acuity correction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank all those who participated in this research.

No financial support was received for this research.

The researchers report no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Asrorudin M (2014). The impact of visual impairment and eye diseases on the vision related quality of life in a population with severe visually impairment and blindness (Masters Thesis). University of Indonesia, Jakarta. [Translated from Indonesian].
- Baudouin C, Renard J-P, Nordmann J-P, Denis P, Lachkar Y, Sellem E, Rouland J-F, Jeanbat V, Bouee S (2013). Prevalence and risk factors for ocular surface disease among patients treated over the long term for glaucoma or ocular hypertension. *European Journal of Ophthalmology*; 23: 47-54. <https://doi.org/10.5301/ejo.5000181> PMID:22729444
- Christ SL, Zheng DD, Swenor BK, Lam BL, West SK, Tannenbaum SL, Munoz BE, Lee DJ (2014). Longitudinal relationships among visual acuity, daily functional status, and mortality: The Salisbury Eye evaluation study. *JAMA Ophthalmology*; 132(12): 1400-1406 <https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.2847> PMID:25144579
- Cortina MS, Hallak JA (2015). Vision-related quality-of-life assessment using NEI VFQ-25 in patients after Boston keratoprosthesis implantation. *Cornea*; 34(2): 160-164 <https://doi.org/10.1097/ICO.0000000000000310> PMID:25411934
- Court H, McLean G, Guthrie B, Mercer SW, Smith DJ (2014). Visual impairment is associated with physical and mental comorbidities in older adults: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Medicine*; 12(181) <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-014-0181-7> PMID:25603915 PMCid:PMC4200167
- Crews JE, Chou CF, Sekar S, Saaddine JB (2017). The prevalence of chronic conditions and poor health among people with and without vision impairment, aged ≥ 65 years, 2010-2014. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*; 182: 18-30 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.038> PMID:28734819

Dev MK, Paudel N, Joshi ND, Shah DN, Subba S (2014). Psycho-social impact of visual impairment on health-related quality of life among nursing home residents. *BMC Health Services Research*; 14: 1-7. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-345> PMID:25128378 PMCID:PMC4138377

Fleming N, Farrokhyar F, Sabri K (2019). Assessment of the visual function of partially sighted and blind Canadian youth using the VFQ-25 questionnaire: A preliminary study. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology/Journal canadien d'ophtalmologie*; 54(6): 674-677 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjo.2019.04.012> PMID:31836098

Frank CR, Xiang X, Stagg BC, Ehrlich JR (2019). Longitudinal associations of self-reported vision impairment with symptoms of anxiety and depression among older adults in the United States. *JAMA Op*; 137(7): 793-800 <https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.1085> PMID:31095253 PMCID:PMC6537761

Gyawali R, Paudel N, Adhikari P (2012). Quality of life in Nepalese patients with low vision and the impact of low vision services. *Journal of Optometry*; 5: 188-195 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optom.2012.05.002> PMCID:PMC3860710

Hajek A, Wolfram C, Martin Spitzer M, König H-H (2020). Association of vision problems with psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older individuals: Findings from a nationally representative study. *Aging & Mental Health*; 13: 1-8 <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1742659> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1725740> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1822285> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1725806> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1765313> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1857700> PMID:33307767

Heine C, Browning CJ, Gong CH (2019). Sensory loss in China: Prevalence, use of aids, and impacts on social participation. *Frontiers in Public Health*; 7(5): 1-14 <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00005> PMID:30733938 PMCID:PMC6353845

Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation - IHME (2017). Global burden of diseases data visualization. Available at: <https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/>.

Joseph A, Kumar D, Bagavandas M (2019). A review of epidemiology of fall among elderly in India. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*; 44(2): 166-168. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijcm.IJCM_141_19 PMID:31728099 PMCID:PMC6824161

Kandel H, Khadka J, Shrestha MK, Sharma S, Kandel SN, Dhungana P, Pradhan K, Nepal BP, Thapa S, Pesudovs K (2017). Uncorrected and corrected refractive error experiences of Nepalese adults: A qualitative study. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*; 25(2): 147-161 <https://doi.org/10.1080/09286586.2017.1376338> PMID:28985110

Kim YS, Yi MY, Hong YJ, Park KH (2017). The impact of visual symptoms on the quality of life of patients with early to moderate glaucoma. *International Ophthalmology*; 38(4): 1531-1539 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10792-017-0616-1> PMID:28660555

Mahayana IT, Indrawati SG, Pawiroranu S (2017). The prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural primary school children in Indonesian population. *International Journal of Ophthalmology*; 10(11): 1771-1776

Medeiros FA, Gracitelli CPB, Boer ER, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM, Rosen PN (2014). Longitudinal changes in quality of life and rates of progressive visual field loss in glaucoma

patients. *Ophthalmology*; 122(2): 293-301. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.08.014> PMID:25444345 PMCID:PMC4306625

Ministry of Health, Republic of Indonesia (2013). *Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2013*.

Muhit M, Karim T, Islam J, Hardianto D, Muhiddin HS, Purwanta SA, Suhardjo S, Widyandana D, Khandaker G (2018). The epidemiology of childhood blindness and severe visual impairment in Indonesia. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*; 102(11): 1543-1549 <https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2017-311416> PMID:29437580

Nickels S, Schuster AK, Singer S, Wild PS, Laubert-Reh D, Schulz A, Finger RP, Michal M, Beutel ME, Münzel T, Lackner KJ, Pfeiffer N(2017). The National Eye Institute 25-Item Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25) - reference data from the German population-based Gutenberg Health Study (GHS). *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*; 15(1): 1-10 <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-017-0732-7> PMID:28789656 PMCID:PMC5549396

Pardhan S, Latham K, Tabrett D, Timmis MA (2015). Objective analysis of performance of activities of daily living in people with central field loss. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*; 56(12): 169-178 <https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-16556> PMID:26540655

Råen M, Kristianslund O, Østern AE, Sandvik GF, Drolsum L (2019). Are elderly patients optimally corrected with spectacles in the longer term after cataract surgery? *Optometry and Vision Science*; 96(5): 362-366 <https://doi.org/10.1097/OPX.0000000000001371> PMID:31046019

Saboo US, Amparo F, Abud TB, Schaumberg DA, Dana R (2017). Vision-related quality of life in patients with ocular graft-versus-host disease. *Physiology & Behavior*; 176(12): 139-148

Sasongko MB, Widyaputri F, Agni AN, Wardhana FS, Kotha S, Gupta P, Widayanti TW, Haryanto S, Widyaningrum R, Wong TY, Kawasaki R, Wang JJ (2017). Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy and blindness in Indonesian adults with type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*; 181: 79-87 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.019> PMID:28669781

Suzukamo Y, Oshika T, Yuzawa M, Tokuda Y, Tomidokoro A, Oki K, Mangione CM, Green J, Fukuhara S (2005). Psychometric properties of the 25-item National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25), Japanese version. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*; 3(65): 1-11. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-3-65> PMID:16248900 PMCID:PMC1283746

Tharaldsen AR, Sand KM, Dalen I, Wilhelmsen G, Naess H, Midelfart A, Rødahl E, Thomassen L, Hoff JM, NOR-OCCIP Research Group (2020). Vision related quality of life in patients with occipital stroke. *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*; 141 <https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.13232> PMID:32078166

Tirpack AR, Vanner E, Parrish JM, Galor A, Hua H-U, Wellik SR (2019). Dry eye symptoms and ocular pain in veterans with glaucoma. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*; 8(7) <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8071076> PMID:31336584 PMCID:PMC6678384

World Health Organisation (2019). *World report on vision*. World Health Organization.

Yibekal BT, Alemu DS, Anbesse DH, Alemayehu AM, Alimaw YA (2020). Vision-related quality of life among adult patients with visual impairment at University of Gondar, Northwest Ethiopia. *Journal of Ophthalmology*; 11: 1-7 <https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9056097> PMID:32280539 PMCID:PMC7125459

Zhu M, Yu J, Zhang J, Yan Q, Liu Y (2015). Evaluating vision-related quality of life in preoperative age-related cataract patients and analyzing its influencing factors in China: A cross-sectional study cataract and refractive surgery. *BMC Ophthalmology*; 15(1): 1-7 <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12886-015-0150-8> PMID:26547302 PMCID:PMC4637140

Zhu Z, Wang L, Young CA, Huang S, Chang BHW, He M(2016). Cataract-related visual impairment corrected by cataract surgery and 10-year mortality: The Liwan Eye Study. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*; 57: 2290-2295 <https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-17673> PMID:27127927

Zhu Z, Wang L, Scheetz J, He M (2019). Age-related cataract and 10-year mortality: the Liwan eye study. *Acta Ophthalmologica*; 98(3): e328-e332 <https://doi.org/10.1111/aos.14258>

- Mail (28)
- Inbox 28
- Starred
- Snoozed
- Sent
- Drafts
- Categories
- Social
- Updates 29
- Forums 19
- Promotions 4
- More
- Labels +
- FK 55
 - PSLG 1
 - JabFung 4
 - Penelitian dan Pk... 9
 - Pribadi
 - Siska
- UKDW 19
- YAKKUM 4
- More

Search: vardini

Active [Profile: UNIVERSITAS KRISTEN DUTA WACANA]

3 of 3

One attachment • Scanned by Gmail



Maria Widagdo <maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id> to Editor-in-Chief

Feb 11, 2021, 4:29 PM

Dear Dr. **Vardini**,

Thank you for sending me the formatted pdf of my article to be published. I noticed that my family name is not printed correctly: there is no space between my middle name and my family name. It was printed MeiwatiWidagdo, while it should be Meiwati Widagdo Could you please kindly correct this?

I have given a quick read of the manuscript, and did not find any mistakes. I will contact you again if I find something that needs to be changed.

Thank you.

maria widagdo



Reply Forward

Impact of Visual Impairment and Correction on Vision-Related Quality of Life: Comparing People with Different Levels of Visual Acuity in Indonesia

The Maria MeiwatiWidagdo^{1*}, Yunita Rappun¹, Aprilia Vetricia Gandrung¹,
Edy Wibowo²

1. Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia

2. Department of Ophthalmology, Bethesda Hospital, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Purpose: *This study assessed the extent to which visual impairment impacts on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia, by comparing four groups of people: those with 1) normal vision, 2) corrected visual impairment, 3) uncorrected visual impairment, and 4) blindness.*

Method: *Purposive sampling was used. There were 162 respondents, between 21 and 86 years of age. Participants with normal vision and blindness were community-dwellers in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Those with corrected and uncorrected visual impairment were recruited from an eye clinic. This cross-sectional study used NEI VFQ-25 to assess vision-related quality of life. The total scores and 11 NEI VFQ-25 subscales scores of four respondent groups were analysed using ANOVA, followed by post-hoc analyses to reveal between group differences.*

Results: *There was a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total scores among the four respondent groups. Respondents with normal vision had the highest score and those with blindness had the lowest. There were also significant differences among the four groups for the 11 subscales. Post-hoc analyses revealed no significant difference between respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in the total and 9 NEI VFQ-25 subscales. Respondents with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness had significantly lower vision-related quality of life compared to those with normal vision or corrected visual impairment in the total and 5 NEI VFQ-25 subscales, indicating that visual impairment decreases vision-related quality of life.*

* **Corresponding Author:** The Maria Meiwati Widagdo, Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana, Indonesia. Email address: maria_widagdo@staff.ukdw.ac.id

Conclusion: *Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's vision-related quality of life. The negative impact of visual impairment can be minimised by correction. Failure to correct visual impairment leads to significantly lower vision-related quality of life.*

Key words: *quality of life, visual acuity, blindness, visual correction, Indonesia*

INTRODUCTION

The Global Burden of Diseases project, conducted in 2017, reported that blindness and visual impairment caused 1.19% of DALYs globally (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation - IHME, 2017). The World Health Organisation's World Report on Vision, released in 2019, estimated that the number of people with visual impairments worldwide was 2.2 billion (WHO, 2019). The Ministry of Health of the Republic of Indonesia reported that the population with severe visual impairment was more than 2 million people and the number of people with blindness was more than 900,000 (Ministry of Health, 2013).

People with visual impairments experience limitations in carrying out various activities in their lives. They need more time to complete tasks like eating and drinking as they have difficulty in identifying food on a plate or pouring liquid into a glass because of their visual impairment (Pardhan et al, 2015). Independence in conducting activities of daily living decreases as the visual impairment worsens (Christ et al, 2014). Reduced visual acuity, decreased visual field and blurred vision have been associated with lower quality of life (Medeiros et al, 2014; Kim et al, 2017).

There are several studies on the prevalence of visual impairment in Indonesia. Mahayana et al (2017) studied primary school children in 3 districts in Yogyakarta Province and 1 district nearby to find the prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural children. Sasongko et al (2017) reported the prevalence of diabetic-related blindness of people residing in Yogyakarta. Muhit et al (2018) examined 195 children aged 0-15 years in Sumba and Yogyakarta to study the epidemiology of childhood blindness.

Although much is known about the number of people with visual impairment, Indonesia still lacks studies on how visual impairment affects vision-related quality of life. Asrorudin (2014) investigated the effect of eye diseases and visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in a population with severe visual impairment and blindness in Indonesia. However, no studies have compared

vision-related quality of life between people with normal vision and people with different levels of visual impairment. The comparison between subjects with varying visual function will help elucidate the impact of visual impairment on vision-related quality of life in Indonesia.

Objective

Unlike previous studies conducted in Indonesia, this study aimed to compare the quality of life of people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness.

METHOD

Study Sample

For this cross-sectional study, adults aged 18 years and older were recruited using purposive sampling.

The respondents were classified into 4 groups: Group 1 - people with normal vision, Group 2 - people with corrected visual impairment, Group 3 – people with visual impairment that remained uncorrected although using visual aids, and Group 4 – people who were legally blind. Respondents in Group 2 had either mild or moderate visual impairment, while those in Group 3 had moderate to severe visual impairment.

Those with normal vision and blindness were community dwellers, while participants with visual impairment were recruited from the eye clinic of Bethesda Hospital in Yogyakarta. The respondents with blindness were clients of Badan Sosial Mardi Wuto, a social organisation for people with low vision or blindness.

WHO defines normal vision as visual acuity of 6/6, and blindness as visual acuity worse than 3/60 in the better eye with best correction (WHO, 2019). Visual acuity of respondents with visual impairment was examined by an ophthalmologist, and people with normal vision and blindness were examined by a trained research assistant. People with corrected visual impairment could reach 6/6 visual acuity with visual aids. People with uncorrected visual impairment had visual acuity below 6/6 despite the use of visual aids.

Data Collection

Vision-related quality of life was assessed using National Eye Institute – Vision Function Questionnaire – 25 (NEI VFQ-25). This questionnaire has been used to measure vision-related quality of life among Asian people as well (Suzukamo et al, 2005; Gyawali et al, 2012; Cortina and Hallak, 2015; Saboo et al, 2017; Nickels et al, 2017). NEI VFQ-25 has 12 subscales. The total score is the sum of the 12 subscales scores. The respondents with blindness did not drive, so all of them scored '0' in the driving subscale. Multivariate ANOVA was conducted to test the differences of the NEI-VFQ total and 11 subscale (excluding driving) scores among the four groups with age and sex as covariates. Post- hoc analyses using Dunnett C were conducted to find differences between respondent groups.

Ethics Approval

Ethical clearance was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Kristen Duta Wacana. Detailed explanations were given to the participants to obtain their written informed consent. They were assured that the data would be kept confidential and anonymity would be maintained.

RESULTS

Data was collected from 162 respondents: 41 people with normal vision (Group 1), 41 people with corrected visual impairment (Group 2), 40 people with uncorrected visual impairment (Group 3), and 40 people with blindness (Group 4). There were 28 females and 13 males in Group 1, 25 females and 16 males in Group 2, 19 females and 21 males in Group 3, and 26 females and 14 males in Group 4. The mean and standard deviations of age were: 33.59 ± 7.194 years in Group 1; 52.85 ± 14.307 years in Group 2; 60.98 ± 15.58 years in Group 3; and 46.83 ± 12.09 years in Group 4.

The most common cause of visual impairment in Group 2 was cataract (61%), followed by refractive disorders (24%) and glaucoma (7%). Cataract was also the most common cause of visual impairment in Group 3 (65%), followed by glaucoma (15%), diabetic retinopathy (12.5%) and age-related macular degeneration (2.5%). Meanwhile, among respondents with blindness, measles (87.5%) was the most common cause of blindness since childhood, followed by congenital cataracts (7.5%) and glaucoma and retinal detachment (2.5% each) respectively. The majority of respondents in Group 2 (85%) and Group 3 (65%) had visual impairment for less than 5 years, while respondents in Group 4 had been blind for more than 10 years (100%).

Most respondents had high school education in Group 1 (47.5%) and Group 3 (62.5%). In Group 2, 52.5% had college education, while respondents with blindness had the lowest level of education, as 27.5% had never been to school and 50% had elementary school education.

The majority of respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were working people (75% and 57.5%, respectively). Half of the study participants in Group 3 worked, and most of those who did not work were pensioners. Almost all of the respondents with blindness (97.5%) worked as masseurs. In Indonesia, the department of social affairs provides free masseur training programmes for people with blindness.

The vision-related quality of life of respondents with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness, the results of multivariate ANOVA and post-hoc analyses are presented in Table 1.

Table 1: Vision-related Quality of Life of People with Normal Vision (Group 1), Corrected Visual Impairment (Group 2), Uncorrected Visual Impairment (Group 3) and Blindness (Group 4), the Results of Multivariate ANOVA and Post-hoc Analyses of the 4 Groups

Vision-related Quality of Life	Group 1 (G1)	Group 2 (G2)	Group 3 (G3)	Group 4 (G4)	Multivariate ANOVA		Post-hoc Analyses
	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	Mean \pm SD	F	p	
Total	946.84 \pm 47.240	946.84 \pm 47.240	781.29 \pm 128.690	418.90 \pm 89.468	282.469	<0.001	G1>G2** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
General health	59.76 \pm 15.690	55.610 \pm 13.332	40.000 \pm 21.780	44.375 \pm 18.334	7,391	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4**
General vision	81.95 \pm 6.008	77.561 \pm 6.626	58.500 \pm 12.310	15.000 \pm 19.612	243,605	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***

Ocular pain	90.55 ± 14.344	82.317 ± 17.280	83.438 ± 21.067	75.300 ± 22.562	4,197	0,007	G1>G4***
Near vision activities	99.02 ± 2.650	96.37 ± 6.495	64.782 ± 20.283	39.574 ± 11.757	204,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Distance vision activities	98.63 ± 3.048	98.80 ± 3.487	69.995 ± 22.713	28.936 ± 8.427	285,248	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Social functioning	93.54 ± 8.571	88.83 ± 12.221	90.625 ± 12.894	55.000 ± 14.925	88,360	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Mental health	98.00 ± 5.996	86.37 ± 18.208	65.625 ± 14.572	67.506 ± 15.453	31,393	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Dependency	97.95 ± 5.882	86.66 ± 15.106	64.787 ± 16.616	57.275 ± 17.314	56,033	<0.001	G1>G2*** G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Role difficulties	89.98 ± 22.469	79.80 ± 31.610	68.750 ± 24.677	56.563 ± 19.812	10,615	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***
Colour vision	99.39 ± 3.904	97.56 ± 15.617	98.750 ± 7.906	18.750 ± 30.356	208,119	<0.001	G1>G4*** G2>G4*** G3>G4***
Peripheral vision	99.39 ± 3.904	96.95 ± 16.003	85.000 ± 24.547	5.000 ± 14.097	330,665	<0.001	G1>G3*** G1>G4*** G2>G3*** G2>G4***

** p<0.01

*** p<0.001

Multivariate ANOVA that included age and sex as covariates, revealed a significant difference in the NEI VFQ-25 total scores among the four groups of respondents. Group 1 had the highest mean total vision-related quality of life score and Group 4 had the lowest. Post-hoc analyses revealed there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 respondents, but Group 1 and Group 2 respondents had significantly higher scores than those in Group 3 and Group 4. The total vision-related quality of life score of Group 3 respondents was significantly higher than that of respondents in Group 4.

The mean vision-related quality of life scores of 11 subscales for the four groups of respondents varied, although the mean scores of almost all subscale scores in Group 1 tended to be the highest, and those of Group 4 were likely to be the lowest.

In the general health subscale, post-hoc analysis showed that respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher general health scores than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 were reasonably healthy, as the percentage with self-reported chronic diseases was below 20%. Almost half of the respondents in Group 3 (47.5%) and 35% of those in Group 4 reported having a chronic health condition.

In the general vision subscale, there was no significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2. The correction of Group 2 respondents' vision had a positive impact on the vision-related quality of life general vision subscale. Respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher scores than respondents of Group 3 and Group 4. Failure to make visual correction, leading to uncorrected visual impairment or even blindness, resulted in lower vision-related quality of life general vision subscale.

The results of near vision activities and distance vision activities subscales showed that visual correction improved people's ability to conduct near vision activities like reading a book, cooking, sewing or fixing things at home, as well as distance vision activities such as reading street signs, watching movies, and going up and down stairs at night.

In the social functioning subscale, the respondents in Groups 1, 2 and 3 had significantly higher scores than those in Group 4. Despite their visual limitations, Group 2 and Group 3 respondents were able to understand other people's reactions during conversation or behave as expected when they were visiting people or attending a party. People with blindness had more difficulties in fulfilling their social function which affected their vision-related quality of life.

In the mental health subscale, Group 1 had a significantly higher score than the other three Groups. Group 2 respondents worried about their vision, felt some frustration, had less control over what they did, and worried about being embarrassed due to their visual impairment. Group 3 and Group 4 individuals had bigger problems compared to Group 2 respondents, leading to lower vision-related quality of life.

Post- hoc analysis showed that respondents in Group 1 and Group 2 had significantly higher vision-related quality of life role difficulties subscale than those in Group 3 and Group 4. Respondents in Group 3 and Group 4 thought that they could not complete tasks on time and their performance was lower because of their visual problem. Group 2 individuals did not think that their visual impairment affected their performance.

In the dependency subscale, Group 1 had a significantly higher score than the other Groups. Respondents in Group 2 felt some dependency on what other people said, and needed help from other people because of their visual problems. Individuals in Group 3 and Group 4 had more difficulties than those in Group 2. Group 4 respondents even felt they were forced to stay at home most of the time because of their blindness.

Group 1 and Group 2 individuals had significantly higher peripheral vision subscales than those in Group 3 and Group 4. People in Group 2 did not think that they had significant difficulties in seeing things on the sides, while those in Group 3 and Group 4 did.

There was no significant difference among respondents in Groups 1, 2 and 3 in the colour vision subscale. The three groups had significantly higher scores than those in Group 4. Individuals in Group 2 and Group 3 did not have a significant problem in matching clothes, but those in Group 4 had a lot of problems in performing this task.

DISCUSSION

People with normal vision had the highest total NEI VFQ-25 score and those with blindness had the lowest, indicating that vision-related quality of life decreases with the worsening of visual acuity. This is in accordance with other studies conducted in other countries (Fleming et al, 2019; Tharaldsen et al, 2020; Yibekal et al, 2020).

Based on the NEI VFQ-25 subscale analysis, general health was found to be higher in respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment than among those with uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. This result suggests that visual acuity may be an indicator of general health. Vision impairment has been associated with chronic conditions in older adults (Court et al, 2014; Crews et al, 2017). People with visual impairment are more likely to have health problems compared to individuals with normal vision. Other researchers found cataract as a predictor of mortality in people aged over 50 years (Zhu et al, 2016; Zhu et al, 2019). A recent review reported poor vision as a risk factor of falls in older adults that may lead to fatality (Joseph et al, 2019).

Subscales of general vision, near vision activities, distance vision activities and peripheral vision showed a significant difference, where respondents with normal vision and corrected visual impairment had higher levels of functioning than individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness. Visual correction may improve vision-related quality of life, while more severe visual impairment may have a more adverse effect on vision-related quality of life. This finding is consistent with other studies showing that best-corrected visual acuity can have positive impact on vision-related quality of life (Råen et al, 2019).

There was no significant difference in the ocular pain subscale among respondents with corrected vision, uncorrected vision and blindness. Ocular pain is commonly associated with ocular surface disease found in most people with glaucoma. The number of respondents with glaucoma in this study was low, and this might explain the result (Baudouin et al, 2013; Tirpack et al, 2019).

This study suggests that visual acuity does not affect social functioning until someone becomes blind. This finding is similar to studies that reported no significant difference in social function between people with normal vision and those with visual impairment (Dev et al, 2014; Heine et al, 2019). Respondents with visual impairment could still carry out their social functions despite obstacles in doing so. Respondents with blindness had many difficulties in carrying out their social functions, and experienced social isolation. Although most of the study participants with blindness worked as masseurs, they waited for clients to visit them because they had problems in moving around the city due to their visual condition.

This study indicates that vision affects mental health. A study on older people has associated self-reported visual impairment with depression (Frank et al,

2019). Vision problems have been associated with worse psychosocial outcomes. Visual impairment causes problems in doing everyday activities, i.e., reading newspapers, recognising people. People with these problems have been reported to have lower life satisfaction, increased depressive symptoms and decreased positive affect(Hajek et al, 2020).

Dependency was different among all four groups; it increased with decreasing visual acuity. This study shows that uncorrected visual impairment can lead to role difficulties, which is consistent with other researchers' findings that greater visual impairment affects psychosocial parameters, including role difficulty(Zhu et al, 2015). Visual impairment forces the individual to take longer over completing tasks, leading to lower performance.

Despite their corrected vision, respondents in Group 2 had lower quality of life in the dependency subscale than those with normal vision. More than half of the participants in Group 2 wore glasses to correct their visual impairment. Glasses help people perform many activities, but those who wear them complain about the inconvenience of having frequent eye check-ups and getting replacements to keep good vision(Kandel et al, 2017). Without glasses, they need help from others to accomplish tasks. Visual impairment decreases one's independence in doing activities of daily living, and increases dependence on other people. Individuals with uncorrected visual impairment or blindness have more dependency on others in their daily lives.

This study suggests that neither corrected nor uncorrected visual impairment creates a significant problem in colour vision, but blindness does. This finding is consistent with other researchers who reported a similar result(Zhu et al, 2015).

Limitations

This study assessed vision-related quality of life based on the levels of vision, and did not analyse by specific diagnosis.

Comparison between the Groups may have been hampered by the differing sources of research participants. Participants in Groups 1 and 4 were recruited from the community, while participants in Groups 2 and 3 were clients from a hospital eye clinic.

CONCLUSION

It can be concluded that there are significant differences in vision-related quality of life related to people with normal vision, corrected visual impairment, uncorrected visual impairment and blindness. Visual impairment has a detrimental impact on a person's vision-related quality of life. However, it has differential impacts on different elements of vision-related quality of life. There are no significant differences between people with normal vision and corrected visual impairment in most subscales, suggesting that visual correction can improve vision-related quality of life, and thereby highlighting the importance of visual acuity correction.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank all those who participated in this research.

No financial support was received for this research.

The researchers report no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Asrorudin M (2014). The impact of visual impairment and eye diseases on the vision related quality of life in a population with severe visually impairment and blindness (Masters Thesis). University of Indonesia, Jakarta. [Translated from Indonesian].
- Baudouin C, Renard J-P, Nordmann J-P, Denis P, Lachkar Y, Sellem E, Rouland J-F, Jeanbat V, Bouee S (2013). Prevalence and risk factors for ocular surface disease among patients treated over the long term for glaucoma or ocular hypertension. *European Journal of Ophthalmology*; 23: 47-54. <https://doi.org/10.5301/ejo.5000181> PMID:22729444
- Christ SL, Zheng DD, Swenor BK, Lam BL, West SK, Tannenbaum SL, Munoz BE, Lee DJ (2014). Longitudinal relationships among visual acuity, daily functional status, and mortality: The Salisbury Eye evaluation study. *JAMA Ophthalmology*; 132(12): 1400-1406 <https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.2847> PMID:25144579
- Cortina MS, Hallak JA (2015). Vision-related quality-of-life assessment using NEI VFQ-25 in patients after Boston keratoprosthesis implantation. *Cornea*; 34(2): 160-164 <https://doi.org/10.1097/ICO.0000000000000310> PMID:25411934
- Court H, McLean G, Guthrie B, Mercer SW, Smith DJ (2014). Visual impairment is associated with physical and mental comorbidities in older adults: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Medicine*; 12(181) <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-014-0181-7> PMID:25603915 PMCid:PMC4200167
- Crews JE, Chou CF, Sekar S, Saaddine JB (2017). The prevalence of chronic conditions and poor health among people with and without vision impairment, aged ≥ 65 years, 2010-2014. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*; 182: 18-30 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.038> PMID:28734819

Dev MK, Paudel N, Joshi ND, Shah DN, Subba S (2014). Psycho-social impact of visual impairment on health-related quality of life among nursing home residents. *BMC Health Services Research*; 14: 1-7. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-345> PMID:25128378 PMCID:PMC4138377

Fleming N, Farrokhyar F, Sabri K (2019). Assessment of the visual function of partially sighted and blind Canadian youth using the VFQ-25 questionnaire: A preliminary study. *Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology/Journal canadien d'ophtalmologie*; 54(6): 674-677 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcjo.2019.04.012> PMID:31836098

Frank CR, Xiang X, Stagg BC, Ehrlich JR (2019). Longitudinal associations of self-reported vision impairment with symptoms of anxiety and depression among older adults in the United States. *JAMA Op*; 137(7): 793-800 <https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.1085> PMID:31095253 PMCID:PMC6537761

Gyawali R, Paudel N, Adhikari P (2012). Quality of life in Nepalese patients with low vision and the impact of low vision services. *Journal of Optometry*; 5: 188-195 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.optom.2012.05.002> PMCID:PMC3860710

Hajek A, Wolfram C, Martin Spitzer M, König H-H (2020). Association of vision problems with psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older individuals: Findings from a nationally representative study. *Aging & Mental Health*; 13: 1-8 <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1742659> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1725740> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1822285> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1725806> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1765313> <https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1857700> PMID:33307767

Heine C, Browning CJ, Gong CH (2019). Sensory loss in China: Prevalence, use of aids, and impacts on social participation. *Frontiers in Public Health*; 7(5): 1-14 <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00005> PMID:30733938 PMCID:PMC6353845

Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation - IHME (2017). Global burden of diseases data visualization. Available at: <https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/>.

Joseph A, Kumar D, Bagavandas M (2019). A review of epidemiology of fall among elderly in India. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*; 44(2): 166-168. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijcm.IJCM_141_19 PMID:31728099 PMCID:PMC6824161

Kandel H, Khadka J, Shrestha MK, Sharma S, Kandel SN, Dhungana P, Pradhan K, Nepal BP, Thapa S, Pesudovs K (2017). Uncorrected and corrected refractive error experiences of Nepalese adults: A qualitative study. *Ophthalmic Epidemiology*; 25(2): 147-161 <https://doi.org/10.1080/09286586.2017.1376338> PMID:28985110

Kim YS, Yi MY, Hong YJ, Park KH (2017). The impact of visual symptoms on the quality of life of patients with early to moderate glaucoma. *International Ophthalmology*; 38(4): 1531-1539 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10792-017-0616-1> PMID:28660555

Mahayana IT, Indrawati SG, Pawiroranu S (2017). The prevalence of uncorrected refractive error in urban, suburban, exurban and rural primary school children in Indonesian population. *International Journal of Ophthalmology*; 10(11): 1771-1776

Medeiros FA, Gracitelli CPB, Boer ER, Weinreb RN, Zangwill LM, Rosen PN (2014). Longitudinal changes in quality of life and rates of progressive visual field loss in glaucoma

patients. *Ophthalmology*; 122(2): 293-301. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2014.08.014> PMID:25444345 PMCID:PMC4306625

Ministry of Health, Republic of Indonesia (2013). *Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2013*.

Muhit M, Karim T, Islam J, Hardianto D, Muhiddin HS, Purwanta SA, Suhardjo S, Widyandana D, Khandaker G (2018). The epidemiology of childhood blindness and severe visual impairment in Indonesia. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*; 102(11): 1543-1549 <https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2017-311416> PMID:29437580

Nickels S, Schuster AK, Singer S, Wild PS, Laubert-Reh D, Schulz A, Finger RP, Michal M, Beutel ME, Münzel T, Lackner KJ, Pfeiffer N(2017). The National Eye Institute 25-Item Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25) - reference data from the German population-based Gutenberg Health Study (GHS). *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*; 15(1): 1-10 <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-017-0732-7> PMID:28789656 PMCID:PMC5549396

Pardhan S, Latham K, Tabrett D, Timmis MA (2015). Objective analysis of performance of activities of daily living in people with central field loss. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*; 56(12): 169-178 <https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-16556> PMID:26540655

Råen M, Kristianslund O, Østern AE, Sandvik GF, Drolsum L (2019). Are elderly patients optimally corrected with spectacles in the longer term after cataract surgery? *Optometry and Vision Science*; 96(5): 362-366 <https://doi.org/10.1097/OPX.0000000000001371> PMID:31046019

Saboo US, Amparo F, Abud TB, Schaumberg DA, Dana R (2017). Vision-related quality of life in patients with ocular graft-versus-host disease. *Physiology & Behavior*; 176(12): 139-148

Sasongko MB, Widyaputri F, Agni AN, Wardhana FS, Kotha S, Gupta P, Widayanti TW, Haryanto S, Widyaningrum R, Wong TY, Kawasaki R, Wang JJ (2017). Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy and blindness in Indonesian adults with type 2 diabetes. *American Journal of Ophthalmology*; 181: 79-87 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2017.06.019> PMID:28669781

Suzukamo Y, Oshika T, Yuzawa M, Tokuda Y, Tomidokoro A, Oki K, Mangione CM, Green J, Fukuhara S (2005). Psychometric properties of the 25-item National Eye Institute Visual Function Questionnaire (NEI VFQ-25), Japanese version. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*; 3(65): 1-11. <https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-3-65> PMID:16248900 PMCID:PMC1283746

Tharaldsen AR, Sand KM, Dalen I, Wilhelmsen G, Naess H, Midelfart A, Rødahl E, Thomassen L, Hoff JM, NOR-OCCIP Research Group (2020). Vision related quality of life in patients with occipital stroke. *Acta neurologica Scandinavica*; 141 <https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.13232> PMID:32078166

Tirpack AR, Vanner E, Parrish JM, Galor A, Hua H-U, Wellik SR (2019). Dry eye symptoms and ocular pain in veterans with glaucoma. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*; 8(7) <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8071076> PMID:31336584 PMCID:PMC6678384

World Health Organisation (2019). *World report on vision*. World Health Organization.

Yibekal BT, Alemu DS, Anbesse DH, Alemayehu AM, Alimaw YA (2020). Vision-related quality of life among adult patients with visual impairment at University of Gondar, Northwest Ethiopia. *Journal of Ophthalmology*; 11: 1-7 <https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9056097> PMID:32280539 PMCID:PMC7125459

Zhu M, Yu J, Zhang J, Yan Q, Liu Y (2015). Evaluating vision-related quality of life in preoperative age-related cataract patients and analyzing its influencing factors in China: A cross-sectional study cataract and refractive surgery. *BMC Ophthalmology*; 15(1): 1-7 <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12886-015-0150-8> PMID:26547302 PMCID:PMC4637140

Zhu Z, Wang L, Young CA, Huang S, Chang BHW, He M(2016). Cataract-related visual impairment corrected by cataract surgery and 10-year mortality: The Liwan Eye Study. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*; 57: 2290-2295 <https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.15-17673> PMID:27127927

Zhu Z, Wang L, Scheetz J, He M (2019). Age-related cataract and 10-year mortality: the Liwan eye study. *Acta Ophthalmologica*; 98(3): e328-e332 <https://doi.org/10.1111/aos.14258>